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SECTION A: 
General Information



Organisational Information

Legal form of entity     A Chapter Nine institution

Nature of business and principal activities :

      ICASA is the regulator for the South African     

      communications, broadcasting and postal     

      services sector. ICASA was established by an    

      Act, the Independent Communications 

      Authority of South Africa Act of 2000, as     

      amended.

Registered Name    : Independent Communications Authority of South Africa 

Business Address    : Blocks B and C

          350 Witch-Hazel Avenue, 

           Eco-Point Office Park, 

          Eco-Park, Centurion 

Postal Address     :  Private Bag X10, 

          Highveld Park, 

          0169  

Telephone Numbers    : +27 12 568 3000/1 

Email Address     : info@icasa.org.za or consumer@icasa.org.za  

Website Address    : www.icasa.org.za  

External Auditors    : Auditor-General of South Africa 

Bankers     : Nedbank 

Attorneys     : Buthelezi Vilakazi Attorneys

      : Cliffe Dekker Hofmeyr Attorneys 

      : Damons Margadie Richardson Attorneys 

      : Fasken Attorneys

      : Gildenhuys Malatji Attorneys 

      : Knowles Husain Lindsay Makhubela Attorneys 

      : Mkhabela Huntley Attorneys

      : Phukubje Pierce Masithela Attorneys

ISBN      : 978-0-620-84592-2



ADR Alternate Dispute Resolution 
AGSA Auditor-General South Africa 
APP Annual Performance Plan 
AREDC Audit, Risk, Ethics and Disclosures Committee 
ASMS Advanced Spectrum Management System 
ATU African Telecommunications Union 
BBBEE Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment 
CAP Consumer Advisory Panel 
CAPEX Capital Expenditure 
CCC Complaints and Compliance Committee
CEO Chief Executive Officer 
CFO Chief Financial Officer 
COO Chief Operating Officer 
CRASA Communications Regulators’ Association of Southern Africa 
CRM Customer Relationship Management 
CTO Commonwealth Telecommunications Organisation 
DoC Department of Communications 
DTT Digital Terrestrial Television 
DTPS Department of Telecommunications and Postal Services 
ECA The Electronic Communications Act 
ECNS Electronic Communications Network Service 
ECS Electronic Communications Service 
EUSSC End-User and Subscriber Services Charter
FM Frequency Modulation 
FTA Free To Air
GAAP Generally-Accepted Accounting Practice
GDP Gross Domestic Products 
GHz Gigahertz 
GHS General Household Survey 
GRAP Generally Recognised Accounting Practice 
GSM Global System for Mobile Communications 
HDI Historically-Disadvantaged Individual 
HSDPA High-Speed Downlink Packet Access 
ICT Information and Communications Technology 
IEC International Electrotechnical Commission 
IIA Institute of Internal Auditors 
IMT International Mobile Telephony 
IIC International Institute of Communications 
ISDN Integrated System Digital Network 
IT Information Technology 
ITA Invitation To Apply 
ITR International Telecommunications Regulation
ITRC Information Technology Review Committee  
ITU International Telecommunications Union 
LTE Long Term Evolution 
MHz Megahertz 
MTEF Medium-Term Expenditure Framework 
MTSF Medium-Term Strategic Framework 
OHS Occupational Health and Safety 
Opex Operational Expenditure
OTT Over The Top 
PA Political Advertisement 
PAJA Promotion of Administrative Justice Act 
PAPU Pan African Postal Union 
PBS Public Broadcasting Service 
PEB Party Election Broadcast 

List of Abbreviations and Acronyms 



PFMA Public Finance Management Act 
PPCC Parliamentary Portfolio Committee on Communications 
QoE Quality of Experience 
QoS Quality of Service 
REMCO Human Resources and Remunerations Committee
RF Radio Frequency 
RFID Radio Frequency Identification 
RFSAP Radio Frequency Spectrum Assignment Plan 
RIA Regulatory Impact Assessment 
RRB Radio Regulations Board
SAPO South African Post Office 
SABC South African Broadcasting Corporation 
SABPP South African Board for People Practices 
SADC Southern African Development Community 
SATRA South African Telecommunications Regulatory Authority 
SKA Square Kilometre Array 
SLA Service Level Agreement
SMP Significant Market Power
SOOGs Strategic Outcomes Oriented Goals 
UPU Universal Postal Union 
USAO Universal Service and Access Obligations 
WRC World Radio Conference 

List of Abbreviations and Acronyms 
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Foreword

by the Acting

Chairperson 

It is with great pleasure to present the ICASA Annual Re-

port for the 2018/19 financial year in my capacity as Acting 

Chairperson of the Council. ICASA is tasked with ensuring 

that the objectives of regulating the information and com-

munication technologies are met and in the public inter-

est. We are therefore duty-bound to ensure that all South 

Africans have access to a wide range of high quality com-

munications services at affordable prices.

Relocation of Head Office to Centurion

The 29th of October 2018 presented itself as the day of 

reckoning and the beginning of a new chapter after 21 

years of operations, from 164 Katherine Street, Sandton, 

when the Head Office relocated to 350 Witch-Hazel Ave-

nue, Eco-Point Office Park, Eco- Park, Centurion. The move 

was and continues to bring ICASA’s services closer to the 

people.

The month of February 2019 marked another greater mile-

stone and honour to officially open our new home which 

is named after the late Minister of Communications in the 

South African Government who was Minister from June 

1999 to April 2009, Dr. Ivy Matsepe-Casaburri. ICASA Head 

Office is therefore called Dr. Ivy Matsepe-Casaburri House, 

in tribute of this struggle stalwart and matriarch of the ICT 

sector. 

Governance and Oversight

I am indeed grateful to report that during the 2018/19 financial year, the Council has provided strategic direction, leadership 

and oversight that ensured that ICASA operates in a sustainable manner with a clear commitment to good governance, and 

to ensure responsible and sound financial management.

To this end, ICASA has continued to receive unqualified audits for the past few years, thus demonstrating the same culture 

of good governance and financial management. In order to promote proper financial and operational management, we 

continue to train our staff and top management to enhance their supply chain management skills so that they have a better 

understanding of how things must be done and ensure compliance with National Treasury Regulations and the require-

ments of the PFMA.

A lot has been achieved in this financial year and these include the licensing of an additional commercial FTA television 

broadcasting services, publication of the findings with regards to digital sound broadcasting services, review and implemen-

tation of the End-User and Subscriber Service Charter Regulations, completion of the RIA report on Must-Carry Regulations, 

Elections Regulations that ensured equitable treatment of political parties during the provincial and national elections, to cite 

but a few. A lot is still being done to level the playing field and provide South Africans with access to communication services. 

Dr. Keabetswe Modimoeng
Acting Chairperson
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Participation in international forums

ICASA continues to participate in international forums such as the ITU, CRASA, PAPU, ATU, IIC and other platforms so as to 

enhance our skills and knowledge; and this to ensure that the Authority is not lagging behind as a result of technological devel-

opments. 

The ITU is the premier global forum through which parties work towards a consensus on a wide range of issues affecting the 

future direction of the ICT industry. Our participation in ITU platforms has led to the appointment of ICASA’s Mr. Samuel Mandla 

Mchunu – Manager: Radiocommunications to the 12-member Board of the ITU Radio Regulations (RR) Africa Region at the ITU 

Plenipotentiary Conference held in Dubai in November 2018. Mandla is currently serving on the until 2023.

Gratitude

I would like to express my sincere appreciation to the CEO, Mr. Willington Ngwepe who has continued to balance the strategic 

and operational aspects of ICASA with complete diligence. My further appreciation and gratitude goes to the Council of ICASA for 

their confidence in me, their guidance and over- sight over this and the previous financial years since I joined ICASA. I feel privi-

leged to be associated with this institution and I am grateful to the work of the visionary team of leaders in the form of Council.

I would also like to commend the management team and staff for their hard work and dedication. I am confident that the Council 

together with the management team will continue to steer the Authority in the right direction and build on the foundation that 

has been laid by the previous leadership of the Authority including the former Chairperson, Mr. Manyaba Rubben Mohlaloga, 

who led the institution with great impartiality, commitment and wisdom.

Finally, I would like to extend my sincere appreciation to the current Minister of Communications and Digital Technologies, Hon. 

Stella Ndabeni-Abrahams, the Deputy Minister Hon. Pinky Kekana and former ministers.

As the Research Professor at the University of Houston, Brené Brown, puts it: You can choose courage, or you can choose com-

fort, but you cannot choose both.

_____________________________

Dr. Keabetswe Modimoeng
Acting Chairperson

Licensing of IMT spectrum

With the Fourth Industrial Revolution (4IR) having arrived, ICASA continues to work closely with all interested local and interna-

tional stakeholders as well as the government to ensure that South Africans do not miss out on the opportunities and benefits 

that are brought about by the digital economy. ICASA will soon be licensing the much sought-after IMT spectrum to qualifying 

entities and companies, particularly small and medium enterprises.

This licensing process has the potential to draw investment into our shores; and ensure the reduction of costs in the electronic 

communications value chain, particularly data services. We expect more players to have access to the spectrum and to enter the 

telecommunications and broadcasting markets as we swiftly move into the digital economy.

Foreword by the Acting Chairperson
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As we reflect on the Authority’s performance for the 
penultimate year of the strategic planning cycle, we have 
to assess how much progress has been made towards the 
realization of the strategic outcome oriented goals (SOOGs) 
set to be attained in order to meet national policy objectives. 

The key tenets under which progress towards the realization 
of the SOOGs ought to be assessed are set out below.

Cost to communicate

The reduction of the cost to communicate (particularly data 
costs) has become a matter of significant public interest. Access 
to data services at affordable prices is a key enabler for social 
and economic inclusion, particularly for the most marginalized 
groupings of our society. Conversely the lack of such access 
would result in the exacerbation of the already entrenched 
inequalities in our country. The Authority is mindful of its role 
– within the confines of its legislative mandate
- in addressing this challenge.

Although the End-User and Subscriber Services Charter 
Regulations do not set prices, they specifically prohibit the 
charging of higher out-of-bundle rates by any operator without 
the consumer specifically consenting to being charged such 
higher rates. As a result of   the implementation of the EUSSC 
Regulations, the Authority has seen significant downward 
adjustment of out-of-bundle prices by industry players over 
the year in review.

Chief Executive Officer
Report

Other measures implemented by the EUSSC Regulations for 
the benefit of consumers include the right to roll-over unused 
data, and the right to transfer unused data to other users on 
the same electronic communications network. The Authority  
continues  to monitor compliance by industry with the EUSSC 
Regulation and will take enforcement action where non-
compliance is found.

In order to deal with the pricing of data services, the Authority 
published the findings of its study on priority markets. The 
findings of the study outlined three (3) markets – across the 
data services provision value chain -  that  are  prone  to  
ineffective  competition.  It further identified the  schedule  
and  criteria  for  the prioritization of the markets for purposes 
of undertaking market reviews.

Based on the aforementioned findings, the Authority 
commenced a market inquiry into the mobile services market 
in terms of section 67 of the Electronic Communications  
Act,  2005  (the  “ECA”).  Through this inquiry, the Authority 
aims to (a) define relevant markets and market segments, (b) 
determine whether
there is effective competition in those markets or market 
segments, (c) identify any licensees with significant market 
power (“SMP”) in such market/s and, where required, (d)  
impose  appropriate  remedies  in the form of pro-competitive 
license terms and conditions on licensees with SMP to remedy 
market failure.

The 2018/19 financial year is the penultimate year 
of the  Authority’s current strategic planning cycle 
period which commenced on 1  April  2015  and is 
due to end on 31 March 2020. 

At the start of this planning cycle, the Authority’s 
performance baseline when measured against 
predetermined objectives was at 29%. The Authority 
set itself a target to reach 80% organisational 
performance by the 2018/19FY.
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In terms of the ECA, the procompetitive remedies which 
the Authority can impose include, amongst others, 
accounting separation, structural separation, and/or 
price controls. The market review process is by law a 
very lengthy, detailed, and technically cumbersome 
process subject to extensive consultations with all 
stakeholders. The Authority will publish the Discussion 
Document in respect of the market review during Q2 
of the 2019/20FY. It is anticipated that the market 
review will be completed during the 2020/21FY. 

Spectrum, technological advancement and 5G 
readiness

In terms of the ECA, the Authority is mandated to 
control, plan, administer and manage the use and 
licensing of the radio frequency spectrum. As stated 
in ICASA’s 2017/18FY annual report, “spectrum is the 
life blood of the information and communications 
technology (ICT) sector it is to the ICT sector what 
water is to the agricultural sector”.

The release of IMT spectrum is necessary to incentivize 
investment in broadband infrastructure in order to 
fuel the digital economy; promote transformation of 
the sector and enable delivery of high-quality data 
services at affordable prices to consumers. Despite 
not releasing any high demand spectrum during the 
year in review, the Authority completed the following 
projects in advancement of its spectrum planning and 
management mandate:

- Publication of regulations on the use of TV White
Spaces aimed at promoting innovation to advance
efficient spectrum use. The regulations were published 
in 2018, and provide for the provision of a reference
Geo-location Spectrum Database System (GLSD) which
was commissioned in March 2019;

- The Authority published a revised frequency
migration plan, an IMT Roadmap, and produced four
Radio Frequency Spectrum Assignment Plans aimed
at ensuring that adequate spectrum - specifically
spectrum for IMT services - is available for broadband
deployment, in the shorter and longer term;

- The Authority concluded an inquiry on digital sound
broadcasting services in South Africa and published a
findings document and position paper in this regard.

Social cohesion and nation building

In discharging its constitutionally enshrined mandate to 
regulate the broadcasting services sector, the Authority plays a 
key role in facilitating social cohesion and nation building. The 
role played by the community broadcasting services sector in 
fostering social cohesion and nation building cannot be over-
emphasised. In this regard, the Authority has finalised the review 
of the regulatory framework for the licensing of community 
broadcasting services for both sound and television. The 
review was undertaken against the backdrop of a moratorium 
on licensing of community broadcasting services which was 
imposed by the Authority during the 2015/16FY.

Chief Executive Officer Report

1112



_________________________
Willington Ngwepe
Chief Executive Officer

The new regulatory framework seeks to - inter alia- prescribe:

a. The application process for the registration, renewal, transfer and amendment of community broadcasting licenses;
b. The framework under which community broadcasting licensees will operate; and
c. Governance, management and community participation structures and principles to be adhered to by community

broadcasters.

In preparation for the sixth democratic Provincial and National Elections and to safeguard the integrity of the elections, ICASA 
published the Final Amendment Regulations on Party Election Broadcasts, Political Advertisements, and Equitable Treatment 
of Political parties by Broadcasting Licensees for the 2019 National Elections. The regulations were aimed at ensuring fair and 
equitable treatment of all contesting political parties, by broadcasting service licensees during the 2019 National Elections. The 
regulations prescribed the framework and guidelines under which Party Election Broadcasts (PEBs) and Political Adverts (PAs) 
were conducted and carried by broadcasting service licensees during the 2019 National Elections.

Consumer protection and dispute resolution 

The advancement of consumer welfare remains the key measure of our success as a sector regulator. This part of our mandate 
is not only about investigating and resolving complaints lodged by consumers against licensees. In the 2018/19 financial year, 
the Authority set a target to resolve 85% of consumer complaints. The Authority managed to resolve 94% of complaints by the 
end of the financial year which was a major achievement in furtherance of the Authority’s commitment to protect the interest 
of consumers through complaints resolution.

Organisational efficiency

As regards the improvement of the Authority’s operational and governance environment, during the year under review, 
the Authority has made extensive progress towards the full deployment of the Advanced Spectrum Management System. 
Furthermore, we have taken targeted measures to improve our internal controls particularly in relation to ensuring financial 
compliance. We hope to see these measures bearing results and reflected in improved audit outcomes in the year ahead.

Conclusion

The Authority looks forward to the final year of its strategic planning cycle. In this regard, the key priorities for delivery in this final 
year are the commencement of the much-awaited licensing process for IMT spectrum and completion of the market inquiry 
into the mobile services market. The realisation of lower data costs largely hinges on the execution of the aforementioned 
priorities. The Authority is mindful of the various risks which may impede delivery against these stated targets (including 
resource constraints, litigation, etc.) and will endeavour to implement adequate mitigation measures in this regard.

I wish to commend the ICASA management team and staff for their dedication and hard work during the year under review. I 
further wish to extend my sincere gratitude to the Council of ICASA for their leadership, guidance and support in the execution 
of the organisation’s regulatory mandate and for exercising governance oversight.

Chief Executive Officer Report
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Statement of Responsibility and Confirmation of Accuracy for the Annual Report

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we confirm the 
following:

All information and amounts disclosed in the annual report 
are consistent with the annual financial statements audited by 
the Auditor-General. The  annual report is complete, accurate 
and  free  from  any omissions. The annual report has been 
prepared in accordance with the guidelines on the  annual  
report as issued by the National Treasury. The Annual Financial 
Statements (Section F) have been prepared in accordance 
with the standards applicable to ICASA.

The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation of 
the annual financial statements and for the judgements made 
in this information.

The accounting authority is responsible for establishing 
and implementing a system of internal control that has 
been designed to provide reasonable assurance  as to the 
integrity and reliability of the performance information, 
the human resources information and the annual financial 
statements.

The external auditors are engaged to express an 
independent opinion on the annual financial statements. In 
our opinion, the annual report fairly reflects the operations, 
the performance information, the human resources 
information and the financial affairs of ICASA for the 
financial year which ended on 31 March 2019.

________________________________
Dr. Keabetswe Modimoeng
Acting Chairperson

______________________________
Willington Ngwepe
Chief Executive Officer
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Strategic Overview 

Our Vision
An inclusive digital society

Our Mission
To ensure that all South Africans have access to a wide range of high-quality communication services at affordable prices. 

Our Values
Values are the essence from which companies extract inspiration when crafting strategies. These are concepts that are 
entrenched in the fabric of every organisation and by which they are judged. All ICASA’s regulatory activities are centred on five 
core values, which are innovation, collaboration, accountability, results-driven and stakeholder-centric.
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The Mandate of ICASA

ICASA or ‘the Authority’ falls under schedule 1 of the Public Finance Management Act No 1 of 1999 (PFMA). ICASA’s mandate is set 
out in the Independent Communications Authority of South Africa Act, Act No 13  of 2000, (ICASA Act), Electronic Communications 
Act, Act No 35 of 2005, as amended (the EC Act), the Postal Services Act No 24 of 1998 (the Postal Services Act) and the 
Broadcasting Act, Act No 4 of 1999, (the Broadcasting Act) for the regulation of electronic communications, broadcasting and the 
postal services in the public interest.

The legislation empowers ICASA to grant licenses, monitor compliance with licence terms and conditions, develop regulations, 
plan and manage the radio frequency spectrum and protect consumers.

The Constitution of the Republic of South Africa 

The Constitution of the Republic of South Africa (RSA) mandates Parliament to establish an independent regulatory 
institution to regulate broadcasting in the public interest and to ensure fairness and a diversity of views broadly 
representing South African society (S 192).

The Independent Communications Authority of South Africa Act 13 of 2000, as 
amended  

The Act establishes ICASA as an institution and provides that it must:
- perform its functions through Council as contemplated in section 5,
- be independent and is subject only to the Constitution and the law,
- be impartial and perform its functions without fear or favour.
- act in a manner that is consistent with the obligations of the Republic under any applicable international agreement,

according to section 231 of the Constitution.
- conclude concurrent jurisdiction agreements with any regulator in respect of areas of regulatory overlaps.

The Broadcasting Act 4 of 1999   

The Act clarifies the powers of the Minister and ICASA respectively and provides for the regulation of broadcasting activities in 
the public interest.

The Electronic Communications Act, No. 36 of 2005, as amended

The ECA provides the legal framework for convergence of the telecommunications, broadcasting and information technology 
services. More importantly, it also sets out ICASA’s detailed powers for regulation of the electronic communications and 
broadcasting sectors.

ICASA has concurrent regulatory oversight/jurisdiction with the Competition Commission on competition matters in terms of 
Chapter 10 of the ECA read with 4B(8)(b) of the ICASA Act.
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The Postal Services Act, No. 124 of 1998 

The Postal Services Act requires the Authority to license and monitor SAPO in relation to minimum service standards and the 
fulfilment of universal service obligations, including the roll-out of street addresses and the provision of retail postal services in 
underserviced areas.

Department of Communications

The DoC policy framework is embedded within and aligned to broader government priorities and policy, as promulgated. The 
Authority believes its strategic objectives will contribute directly to the DoC’s outcomes, relating specifically to Outcome 12 and 
Outcome 14

The Promotion of Administration Justice Act, No. 3 of 2000 

PAJA gives effect to the right to administrative action that is lawful, reasonable and procedurally fair and to the right to written 
reasons for administrative action, as contemplated in section 33 of the Constitution.

Outcome 12: providing an efficient, effective and development–oriented public 
service

Outcome 12 contemplates that information technology is an important tool for advancing service delivery. It can be used 
to make services more accessible, reduce the cost of accessing services, streamline administrative processes and improve 
turnaround times, thus strengthening administrative accountability and responsiveness. It is the aim of government to identify 
those areas of IT that have the greatest potential to improve access to services.

Outcome 14: providing a diverse, socially cohesive society with a common national 
identity 
Outcome 14 contemplates that sharing of common space across race and class will be enabled through instituting community 
dialogues. This will be promoted by the engagements and discourse that facilitates healing, social cohesion, nation building, 
dialogue and trust. This will require that the use of currently marginalised languages be increased. Furthermore, the broadcast 
media, especially the national broadcaster, will be encouraged to air programmes that popularise narratives and visions of a 
non-sexist, non-racial, equal and democratic South Africa. The Authority will promote social cohesion through the licensing of 
regional and local broadcast media and promotion of the broadcast of local content.

The Department of Telecommunications and Postal Services policy framework

The Department of Telecommunications and Postal Services (DTPS) policy framework is embedded within and aligned to broader 
government priorities and policy, as promulgated. The Authority’s strategic objectives contribute to the DTPS outcomes, relating 
specifically to Outcome 6, namely an efficient, competitive and responsive economic infrastructure network. In this case, the 
Authority will facilitate investment in broadband infrastructure and increase access to broadband spectrum to ensure that all 
South Africans have access to a wide range of high quality communication services at affordable prices.
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Organisational Structure
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Meet Our Council

Dr. Keabetswe Modimoeng
Acting Chairperson

Nomonde Gongxeka - Seopa

Palesa Kadi

Paris Mashile

Botlenyana Mokhele

Thembeka Semane

Adv. Dimakatso Qocha

Peter Zimri
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Meet Our Council

Willington Ngwepe
Chief Executive Officer 

Tebogo Matabane
Chief Financial Officer

Anneal Sookharan
Chief Audit Executive

Leah Maina
GM: Licensing

Anele Nomtshongwana
GM: Regions

Elize van der Walt 
GM: Compliance & Consumer Affairs 

Norman Gidi
Executive: Legal, Risk and CCC

Dr. Praneel Ruplal
Acting GM: Engineering & Technology

Portia Mngomezulu
Executive: Corporate Services

Meet Our Executive
& Operational Committee

Zakhele Kganakga
Executive: Human Resources

Junior Khumalo
GM: Policy, Research & Analysis
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Section B: 
Performance 
Information

The Authority began the year under review on the back- 

drop of several dynamics in its service delivery and internal 

environments which were outlined through updating of the 

2017/18FY situational analysis.

The service delivery environment was marked by a variety 

of factors and trends in the ICT sector, amongst others the 

following:

- The ICT sector share of the GDP was at 3%. The telecom-                          

  munications sector accounted for two-thirds of the sec

tor’s contribution to GDP at 1.9%1;

- The total combined revenue for the broadcasting, tele

communications and postal services sectors increased

from R204 billion in 2017 to R229 billion at the end of

20182;

- The total investment spend in the telecommunications

sector decreased by 1,5% from R47.6 billion in 2017 to

R46.9 billion at the end of 2018 with the cellular opera

tors accounting for R19.5 billion3

- The GHS showed that in 2017 the proportion of house

holds with access to the internet was at 61,8%4;

________________
 1: Stats SA 2017
 2:  ICASA State of the ICT Sector Report, 2019
 3: ICASA State of the ICT Sector Report, 2019
 4: Stats SA GHS: 2015, 2016 & 2017

Performance Information:
Situational Analysis

- There is increased demand for digital forms of communication. The increased use of the Internet has brought a plethora of

downloadable applications to smartphones with increased adoption of over-the-top services;

- There have been great strides in ensuring the country’s readiness for 5G deployment. The Authority issued 5G trial

licences to some of the sector players during the period under review;

- The moratorium which was imposed on the granting of community broadcasting service licenses during 2015 was lifed after

completion of the review regulatory framework in the 2018/19 financial year.
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Performance Information:
Situational Analysis

Several stakeholders had varied expectations of the Authority:

- Governance committees expected increased transparency, high ethics and accountability;

- The Executing Authority expected conformance, collaboration and fulfilment of mandate;

- Parliamentary Portfolio Committee on Communications expected accountability;

- Consumers of ICT services expected responsiveness in resolution of their complaints and creation of a regulatory

environment that serves that interest;

- ICASA staff expected a conducive environment ripe for productivity;

- Suppliers of goods and services expected to be treated with fairness in all procurement processes;

- National Treasury expected improvement in reporting and revenue collection.

The Authority also began the year with no changes to its governance structures such as the Audit Risk and Disclosure Commit-

tee, Information Technology Review Committee, and Human Resources and Remunerations Committee.

There were no revisions to the Authority’s legislative mandate. The Authority anchored its plan within the policy mandates as 

set out in terms of inter-alia the National Development Plan 2030, the National Infrastructure Plan, Inclusive Growth Action Plan 

(14 Point Plan), the National Integrated ICT White Paper Policy (2016), Broadcasting Digital Migration Policy 2008 (as amended) 

and South Africa Connect 2013.

The internal environment is characterised by some strengths and weaknesses, as well as abilities to exploit opportunities and 

mitigate threats:
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Strategic Outcomes Oriented Goals

SOOG -1 

01

02

03

05

To facilitate investment in broadband 

infrastructure and license broadband spectrum 

for sustainable socio-economic development;

SOOG -2
To promote competition and facilitate universal access 

to communication services at an affordable cost;

SOOG -3
To promote social integration, inclusivity and nation 

building;

SOOG -4
To establish and position ICASA as a credible and in-

dependent regulator that inspires the confidence of 

consumers and other stakeholders 

SOOG -5
To enhance ICASA’s capacity to fulfil its mandate 

through improved organisational efficiency.

04The work of the Authority was organised under six

programmes whose respective strategic objectives were 

aligned to the Strategic Outcomes Oriented Goals above and 

these are:

Programme 1: Administration,

Programme 2: Licensing,

Programme 3: Policy, Research and Analysis, 

Programme 4: Engineering and Technology, 

Programme 5: Regions,

Programme 6: Compliance and Consumer Affairs.

Strategic Outcome Oriented Goals (SOOGs) were drawn from 

the Estimates of National Expenditure (ENE) publication when 

the Strategic Plan 2015/16 – 2019/20FY was developed and 

they remained the long-term strategic direction under which 

the Annual Performance Plan 2015/16 – 2019/20 was 

developed and implemented:

Performance Information:
Situational Analysis
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The Authority set seventy-one (71) targets for the 2018/19FY. Sixty-five (65) of the targets were achieved and six (6) were not 
achieved. The sixty-five (65) targets achieved constitute ninety-one-point-five percent (91.5%) annual achievement.

Figure 1: Annual Performance 2018/19FY

Overview of the Authority’s Performance

Table 1 below presents the breakdown of the performance by Programme.

Performance Information:
Authority’s Performance 
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Administration is made up of five sub-programmes, namely: Corporate Services, Finance, Human Resources, Internal Audit, 
Legal, Risk and Complaints & Compliance Committee.

Purpose: The Programme provides coordinated strategic leadership, management and support to the Authority to deliver 
on its mandate.

Strategic Objectives: To improve organisational performance by twenty (20) percentage points by 2019/20, through 
different interventions in the Corporate Services, Finance, Human Resources, Internal Audit and the Legal, Risk &  Complaints 
& Compliance Committee Sub-Programmes.

Programme 1: Administration  

Strategic Objectives

Sub-Programme: Corporate Services

The purpose of the sub-programme is to provide corporate support services to the Authority through communications, 
information technology and facilities, security and administration of high quality.

In the year under review, the sub-programme assessed the Authority’s satisfaction rating and it was found to have increased 
from thirty percent (30%) to forty percent (40%).5 The sub-programme also managed to maintain the affiliation of the 
Authority with six international fora.

The sub-programme also facilitated establishment of a new regional office in the Northern Cape Province increasing the 
regional footprint of the Authority from eight (8) regional offices to nine (9). A target of eighty percent (80%) for integration 
of organisational processes and systems was exceeded by one (1) percentage point to eighty-one percent (81%).

Performance Information:
Performance by Programme

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

5The Authority conducted its annual customer satisfaction and awareness surveys to monitor the effectiveness of services rendered to its consumers and assess the awareness of the 
ICASA brand. In the year under review, the sub-programme attained a rating of 64% for customers satisfaction amongst the licenses (in respect of services rendered) and consumers (in 
respect of complaints resolution), and a 50% rating on the consumer›s awereness of the ICASA brand.
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Performance Indicators

Sub-Programme: Finance 

The purpose of the programme is to provide an efficient and effective support services to the Authority from a finance 
perspective, through implementation of sound financial management and ensuring compliance with all applicable 
legislation and policies. The sub-programme was able to maintain revenue collection at ninety nine (99%) as per target.

However, the sub-programme was not able to achieve its target of paying ninety-six percent (96%) of suppliers within 
thirty (30) days due to delays in resolving queries raised on some of the invoices received from suppliers. A ninety percent 
(90%) performance was achieved instead. In absolute terms, five hundred and forty-two (542) invoices were received from 
suppliers and four hundred and eighty-seven (487) were paid within 30 days translating into ninety percent (90%). 

The sub-programme managed to sustain an unqualified audit opinion which was achieved during the second quarter of 
the current financial year. Management is optimistic that the Authority will improve the audit opinion during the 2019/20FY 
audit.

Strategic objectives

Performance Information:
Performance by Programme
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Performance Indicators

Sub-programme: Human Resources 

The purpose of the sub-programme is to ensure that the Authority can plan for required human resources, recruit the right 
talent in the right positions at the right time, continuously develop the talent to maintain the required levels of competence 
and create a conducive environment that enables employee engagement and a high- performance culture.

The sub-programme managed to implement eighty-three percent (83%) of its approved training and development 
strategy against a target of one hundred percent (100%). The forty-percent (40%) target to ensure compliance with SABPP 
standards was achieved. The sub-programme also completed a review of the organisational structure. More importantly, 
the organisation’s vacancy rate was reduced from five percent (5%) by 2.5 percentage points to 2.5%.

Strategic objectives

Performance Information:
Performance by Programme
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Performance Information:
Performance by Programme
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Strategic objectives

Performance Indicators

Sub-Programme: Legal, Risk and Complaints and Compliance Committee 

The Legal, Risk and Complaints and Compliance Committee’s primary role is to safeguard the Authority’s interests and 
to ensure that all its actions and decisions are legally compliant with the Constitution, enabling legislation and other 
applicable laws. It is also to promote good governance through ensuring overall, effective risk management, including fraud 
risk management, regulatory compliance and business continuity to support the Authority to fulfill its legislative mandate 
and achieve its strategic objectives. The programme also supports the Complaints and Compliance Committee (CCC) in 
discharging its mandate as prescribed in terms of the ECA and the ICASA Act.

The Authority’s risk level was assessed as level 2 during 2017/18 financial year. The sub-programme was able to help the 
organisation to maintain the level at 2 as per plan in the year under review. Conversely, the Authority’s compliance maturity 
level was assessed as level 2 during 2017/18 financial year. The sub-programme assisted the Authority to maintain level 2 
compliance maturity level as per the plan in the year under review.

The Authority adjudicates different types of cases that are brought to its CCC on a regular basis. The cases must be assessed 
before they are tabled at CCC. The sub- programme successfully assessed one hundred percent (100%) of the cases that 
were referred to it for assessment as per target and hundred percent (100%) of requests for advice by Council were all 
successfully executed.

Performance Information:
Performance by Programme
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Performance Information:
Performance by Programme

Strategic objectives

Performance indicators
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Programme 2: Licensing 

The purpose of the Programme is to issue, renew, amend, transfer and revoke broadcasting service, electronic communications 
service, electronic communications network service, postal service and spectrum licences; authorise numbers; grant equipment 
type approval; authorise channels as well as licence exemptions for the purposes of socio-economic development and promotion 
of competition.

The Programme achieved ninety-two percent (92%) of the targets set for the year under review. Seventy-five percent (75%) of 
the process for licensing of the IMT spectrum was completed which involved publication of a notice on the second phase of 
IMT licensing process. Council took a decision on the FTA Television Broadcasting Service Licensing Process. Council decided 
on the licensing of forty five (45%) of MUX 3 spectrum capacity for subscription television broadcasting services as planned. The 
Programme also completed stakeholder consultation on conformity assessment framework for equipment authorisations and 
published a position paper on Equity Ownership by Historically Disadvantaged Groups.

In contributing to an efficient and effective organisation, the Programme successfully processed several applications as per 
target, including type approval of a variety of communication devices; class broadcasting service licence registrations, renewals, 
amendments and transfers; broadcasting channel authorisations; numbering authorisations, and; radio frequency spectrum 
licence applications. The target for processing of licence amendment, renewals, transfer and change of control applications for 
individual licences was not achieved

Strategic objectives

Performance Information:
Performance by Programme
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Performance by Programme
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Performance Information:
Performance by Programme
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The purpose of the Programme is to conduct research and policy analysis into all the regulatory sectors in line with the mandate 
of the Authority. The Programme completed the following projects for the period under review: development of a statistical 
report which is a report that collects key statistics in the ICT sector which is used to inform regulatory and policy decisions; 
an analysis report on the South African Post Office’s annual tariff increase application; a position paper on unreserved postal 
services; a report on SAPO Regulated Financial Statements; a review of the 2014 Call Termination Regulations; a report on 
cybersecurity and an Impact Assessment Report on Must Carry Regulations. The target of the provision of comments on policy 
changes in the sector was exceeded (the annual target was one (1), but four (4) were produced).

A number of projects were not completed as planned. The Programme did not complete a review of the Draft Sports Broadcasting 
Services Amendment Regulations. Stakeholders requested extension of deadline for submission of written comments on Draft 
Regulations. The extension was granted and the revised closing date for submission was set for 15th March 2019. As a result, 
the Programme could not complete the review within the remaining fifteen days of the financial year. A market review in terms 
of section 67(4) of the ECA could also not be completed due to the deadline for submissions by licensees in response to a 
questionnaire requesting financial and other market information on mobile data services being extended to 29 March 2019.

Programme 3: Policy, Research & Analysis

Strategic objectives

Performance Information:
Performance by Programme
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Programme 4: Engineering and Technology

The purpose of the Programme is to develop, coordinate and 
manage the regulatory framework for management of radio 
frequency spectrum, development of equipment technical 
standards and representing ICASA at international regulatory 
forums. 

The Programme executed eight (8) projects in the year under 
review. It successfully completed a revision of the frequency 
migration plan. It also successfully completed the revision of 
the International Mobile Telecommunications (IMT) roadmap. 
In addition, five (5) Radio Frequency Assignment Plans were 
produced for the following bands:

i. 2025 to 2110 MHz paired with 2200 to 2285 MHz
(published on 15 February 2019),

ii. 1518 to 1525 MHz (published on 8 March 2019),
iii. 825 to 830 MHz and 870 to 875 MHz (published on 29

March 2019)
iv. 440 to 441 MHz (published on 15 February 2019),
v. 75.2 to 87.5 MHz (published on 8 March 2019).

One Research Report was completed as contribution 
towards establishment of the Regulatory Frameworks on 
Dynamic and Opportunistic Spectrum Management by the 
Programme. The Programme successfully commissioned 
a reference Geolocation Database during the year under 
review. Furthermore, a findings document and Position 
Paper on the use of digital sound broadcasting in South 
Africa was published. on 29 March 2019 as per plan. Finally, 
the Programme ensured that seven (7) provinces were 
monitored for voice only and four (4) of the seven (7) provinces 
monitored for both voice and data as part of quality of service 
monitoring.

Strategic objectives

Performance Information:
Performance by Programme
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Programme 5: Regions
The purpose of the Programme is to enable unimpeded national provision of electronic communications, broadcasting and 
postal services through compliance monitoring and enforcement.

The Programme exceeded its target by resolving ninety-nine percent (99%) of radio interference cases against its year target of 
ninety-five percent (95%). The Programme also added another service to the bouquet of services offered across regional offices. 
Furthermore, the following targets were executed (and in some instances exceeded6):

- Ninety-one percent (91%) of broadcasting compliance inspections were completed,
- One report on code of conduct compliance inspection was completed and noted by Council,
- Two thousand and twenty-nine (2029) high site inspections were completed against a target of one thousand three

hundred (1300),
- Three thousand three hundred and thirty-seven (3337) type approval compliance inspections were conducted

successfully against a target of two thousand and fifty (2050),
- Four (4) NATJOINTS instructions were planned for the year under review but nine (9) were received and they were all

executed successfully,
- Eighty-two percent (82%) of the consumer education plan was implemented against a target of eighty percent (80%),
- Ninety-six percent (96%) of pre-assigned radio frequency spectrum applications were processed successfully against a

year target of ninety-five percent (95%),
- One hundred percent of (100%) of Class ECS/ECNS and unreserved postal licence applications were processed within

30 working days against a target of sixty-five percent (65%) which was set for the year under review.

Strategic objectives

Performance Information:
Performance by Programme

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
6The overachievement was mainly due to establishment of additional offices which have resulted in the division exceeding most of its targets.  As such, in the new planning cycle, the 
 baselines will be higher and similarly, the targets will be revised accordingly.
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Programme 6: Compliance and Consumer Affairs

The purpose of the Programme is to ensure compliance with licence terms and conditions, the requirements of the enabling 
legislation and underlying regulations; and to protect the interest of consumers in the ICT sector.

The Programme facilitated establishment of a Consumer Advisory Panel (CAP) during the 2017/18 financial year. The Panel 
resumed its activities during the year under review and produced an annual report as its key deliverable. The Programme also 
resolved ninety-two percent (92%) of consumer complaints it received against a target of eighty-five percent (85%). Furthermore, 
the Programme executed on the following targets as per the plan:

- Sixty (60) broadcasting licensees were monitored for compliance with their licensing terms and conditions as per planned
target,

- An annual compliance report for postal services licensees was prepared and approved,
- Sixty percent (60%) of inter-licensee disputes were decided on within given time frame as per plan,
- Eighty percent (80%) of interconnection and facilities leasing agreements were reviewed within the regulated time frames as

per plan.

Strategic Objective

Performance Information:
Performance by Programme
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Performance Indicators 

Performance Information:
Performance by Programme
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SECTION C: 
      Governance



Introduction

Corporate governance embodies processes and  systems 
by which public entities are directed, controlled and held 
to account. In addition to legislative requirements based 
on a public entity’s enabling legislation, and the Companies 
Act, corporate governance with  regard  to  public  entities is 
applied through the precepts of the PFMA and run in tandem 
with the principles contained in the King Report on Corporate 
Governance.

The Accounting Authority

The Council of ICASA acts as the Accounting Authority and 
is accountable to the Executive Authority. The Council 
provides leadership and  is  responsible  for  monitoring  the 
implementation by management of its decisions and strategies. 
The Council ensures that ICASA adheres to good governance 
practices and that it complies with all relevant legislation and 
underlying statutes.

Regulatory role

- Licensing of electronic communications
- Licensing of Broadcasting services
- Licensing of postal services
- Development of regulations for all regulated sectors

Governance role

The Council of the Authority:

- Act as the focal point for, and custodian of, corporate governance by managing its relationship with management, the
Minister and Parliament, as well as other stakeholders along corporate governance principles;

- Provide effective leadership on an ethical foundation;
- Ensure that ICASA is, and is seen as, a responsible organisation by having regard to not only the financial and regulatory

aspects of ICASA, but also the impact ICASA’s operations have on the environment and the society within which it
operates;

- Ensure that ethics are effectively managed within ICASA;
- Ensure that ICASA has an independent and effective Audit, Risk, Ethics and Disclosures Committee responsible for the
governance of risk;

- Ensure that ICASA has an Information Technology Review Committee responsible for information technology governance;
- Ensure that ICASA complies with applicable laws and considers adherence to non-binding rules and standards;
- Ensure that there is an effective risk-based internal audit;
- Appreciate that stakeholders’ perceptions affect ICASA’s reputation;
- Ensure the integrity of ICASA’s integrated report;
- Act in the best interests of ICASA by ensuring that individual councillors adhere to legal standards of conduct;
- Ensure that ICASA Council and Councillors take independent advice in connection with their duties following an agreed
procedure;

- Disclose real or perceived conflicts to Council and deal with them accordingly;
- Appoint and evaluate the performance of the CEO;
- Ensure that disputes, including labour disputes, are resolved effectively, efficiently and expeditiously;
- Monitor management in implementing Council decisions and strategy; and
- Develop ICASA’s strategy and vision.

Governance:
Accounting Authority

Section C: 
Governance
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Regulatory role

- Licensing of electronic communications
- Licensing of Broadcasting services
- Licensing of postal services
- Development of regulations for all regulated sectors

Council Charter

As recommended in the King Code of Good Governance, the Council endorses the principles recommended in the  
code. Council applies these principles where appropriate and applicable, on the condition that the King Code is not in 
contravention with constitutional and legislative mandates. The Council has an approved Council Charter that sets out 
policies to guide Council, management and staff to effectively discharge their duties.

The Council Charter outlines:

- The demarcation of roles, responsibilities and powers of the Chairperson, Councillors and the Chief Executive Officer;
- Powers delegated to various committees of the Authority;
- Matters reserved for final decision-making by Council; and
- Roles and procedures of meetings of Council and its committees.

ICASA Councillors are appointed through a public parliamentary process outlined in the ICASA Act. The term of office of 
the Chairperson is five years and that of Councillors is four years.

Governance:
Accounting Authority

The Composition of Council

*National Assembly resolved in terms of Section 8(2) of the ICASA Act, 2000 to remove Councillor MR Mohlaloga as a Councillor
and Chairperson of ICASA with effect from 19 March 2019
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Governance:
Composition of Council

Details of Council-led Regulatory Projects
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Council Governance Committees 

The Council of ICASA has established the following committees to support council in attending to all governance related matters 
effectively:

a. Audit, Risk, Ethics and Disclosures Committee
b. Human Resources and Remuneration Committee
c. Information Technology Review Committee

Report of Audit, Risk, Ethics and Disclosures Committee

We are pleased to present the report of the Audit, Risk, Ethics and Disclosure Committee (AREDC) for the financial year ended 
31 March 2019, as required by Treasury Regulations and the Public Finance and Management Act 1 of 1999 (PFMA) as amended.

AREDC is an independent statutory committee appointed by the Council of ICASA. The duties of the Committee have been 
discharged in line with the approved terms of reference.  

AREDC Members and Attendance

The Audit Committee consist of independent, non-executive members. It meets at least four times per year, as specified in the 
terms of reference.  The Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Audit Executive, Executive: Legal and CCC, the Risk 
and Compliance Specialist, the Auditor General and Council representatives attend meetings by invitation only.  The Committee 
consisted of four members whose term has expired 31 October 2018 and were replace by 3 members effective 01 December 
2018. During the current year, six meetings were held. Apologies were rendered for meetings not attended. 

Governance:
AREDC Committee

*Note Contract extended from 1 July 2018 to 31 October 2018

√ - denotes attendance
N/A- denotes term ended/ not yet appointed
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Governance:
AREDC Committee

Corporate Governance

The Committee observed that ICASA continues to strive towards complying with sound principles of corporate governance 
and is not aware of any issues of non-compliance with corporate governance. The committee acknowledges management 
interventions in introducing proactive measures of monitoring ethical conduct of the employees and Council members.

Compliance Management

Committee has monitored compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The compliance maturity level is 2. During 2018/19 the 
Committee was comfortable with the compliance of various pieces of legislation impacting ICASA with the exception to instances 
of non-compliance with unauthorized, irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure regulations that was noted. Management has 
already introduced measures such as training and recruitment of skilled resources to capacitate the organization in this area. 

Risk Management 

The Committee noted significant progress in the embedding the risk management culture with the organization. The risk 
management maturity level is 2. The committee has continued to monitor the implementation of risk management action plans 
on a quarterly basis.  The Committee is satisfied that the actual management of risk is receiving attention, although we noted 
some areas of improvement. The risk and compliance management unit should be adequately capacitated in order to proactively 
assist with the embedding of risk management processes within the organization. 

Effectiveness of Internal Controls 

In line with the PFMA and King IV Report on Corporate Governance requirements, Internal Audit provides the Committee with 
assurance that the internal controls are appropriate and effective. This is achieved by means of reviews and testing of the 
design, implementation and effectiveness of internal controls, as well as the identification of corrective actions and suggested 
enhancement to the internal controls and processes. From the various reports of the Internal Auditors, the Audit report on 
financial statements, and the management letter of the Auditor-General of South Africa (AGSA), it was noted that there have 
been certain control deficiencies reported. Accordingly, we can report that the systems of internal controls for the period under 
review requires improvement.

In-Year Management Quarterly Reporting

The committee has consistently reviewed the financial and non-financial management and reporting practices. The Committee 
is satisfied that despite the financial constraints performance and financial management was fully functional during the period 
under review. The committee has noted with concern the emerging going concern risks raised by Auditor General, this is further 
collaborated by our observation of financial constraints that sometimes prohibit the organisation in fulfilling its mandate and 
attract skilled resources. Management has committed to explore and engage with various stakeholders to find the sustainable 
funding model that will enable ICASA to fulfill its constitutional mandate.  

Internal Audit

AREDC is satisfied that Internal Audit properly discharged its functions and responsibilities to the Authority during the year 
under review. Internal audit work conducted during the year focused on financial, compliance, asset management supply chain 
management, human resource, licensing monitoring and enforcement, information technology (systems, general controls and 
security) and performance information management. Internal Audit was also involved in various consulting engagements that 
has added value to the organisation . 
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Governance:
AREDC Committee

External Audit 

The Committee has also reviewed ICASA‘s implementation of the audit action plan on issues raised in the prior year, and it is 
of the view that management effort should focus on matters relating to financial and performance reporting. The Committee 
concurs and accepts the conclusions of the Auditor-General on the annual financial statements and recommends that the 
audited annual financial statements be read and accepted, together with the report of the Auditor-General. 

Combined Assurance 
Various assurance providers have thrived to collaborate during the year under review, however The Committee has noted that 
the collaboration between the Executive Management, the Auditor-General South Africa (AGSA) and the Internal Audit function 
can be improved to strengthen the Corporate Governance initiatives within ICASA.

__________________________________
Ms. J.A Nkosi CIA, CISA
Chairperson of the Audit, Risk, Ethics and Disclosure Committee
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Governance:
ITRC

Information Technology Review Committee  

Purpose of the Committee

The Information Technology Review Committee (ITRC) is one of the governance committees of ICASA and has certain 
responsibilities delegated to it by Council. This committee functions in collaboration and in conjunction with the Audit, Risk, Ethics 
and Disclosures Committee (AREDC). The overall purpose of the committee is to assist Council in discharging its responsibilities 
relating to information technology governance and to ensure that this is done within a compliance and exemplary business 
ethical framework.

Structure of the Committee

The Committee comprises of two (2) external members namely:
i. Ms Yolisa Skwintshi - Chairperson
ii. Mr. Faizal Docrat

The aforementioned members are appointed for a two (2) year term effective 1 July 2018. The below mentioned are invitees 
who attend the meetings of the Committee and have a standing invitation and have no voting rights: 

- CEO;
- Executive: Corporate Services;
- Chief Financial Officer;
- Chief Audit Executive;
- Two (2) Councilors nominated by Council; and
- Senior Manager: Information Technology.

The committee does invite other ICASA executives as and when needed. This is to ensure that the committee receives necessary 
support that is needed to execute its duties.

The Authority 

Council supports and endorses the Committee, which operates independently. Council exercises its oversight role and the 
Committee assists Council in fulfilling its responsibilities.

To enable it to fulfil its functions, the Committee has unrestricted access to all information, including records and property and 
employees of ICASA, and must be provided with adequate resources.

The Committee is authorised by Council to: 

- Investigate any activities within its terms of reference;
- Seek external legal or other independent professional advice, subject to Council’s approval;
- Secure the attendance of outsiders with the relevant experience and expertise where necessary at ICASA’s expense,

subject to adherence to ICASA’s procurement policies and procedures;
- Seek any information it requires to discharge its functions from any employee, the Chairperson of other Council

Committees, any of the Councillors, Senior Management, Secretariat or assurance providers. All these parties are
required to co-operate with any request for information made by the Committee  and;

- Unless otherwise specified herein, the Committee shall mainly make recommendations to Council for approval and not
assume management responsibilities.
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Governance:
ITRC

The Chairperson of the Committee (or in his/her absence, any member of the Committee), upon request by Council, shall be 
present when ICASA presents its annual report to Parliament, as well as in any presentation on how the ITRC has fulfilled its 
duties.

Responsibilites & Functions

The responsibilities of ITRC include:

- Review and recommendation of the IT strategy and ensuring the integration and alignment of the IT strategy with ICASA’s
strategic and business processes.

- Promotion of ethical IT governance culture, awareness and a common IT language.
- Ensuring that an internal control framework is adopted and implemented.
- Ensuring that ICASA has sufficient IT policies to maximize effective use of resources.
- Ensuring that there is effective infrastructure and facilities to support the delivery of ICASA’s mandate within the

approved budget.
- Ensuring that there is a process in place to identify and exploit opportunities to improve the performance and

sustainability of ICASA through the use of IT.
- Ensuring that there are adequate business resilience arrangements in place for disaster recovery to support business continuity.
- Ensuring that ICASA complies with IT related rules, codes and standards.
- Ensuring protection of intellectual property contained in ICASA’s information systems.
- Advising Council on changes in technology and other external factors.
- Ensuring that there are systems in place for the management of information including information security, information

management and information privacy.
- Ensuring that an Information Security Management System is developed and implemented. This must include a

comprehensive cyber–security defence plan.
- Ensuring value delivery on IT and return on investment from significant IT projects.
- Reviewing and recommending key IT investments and architecture, in line with ICASA’s strategy and divisional requirements.
- Reporting to the Audit, Risk, Ethics and Disclosures Committee on matters that may affect ICASA’s information technology

systems governance and the role that this plays in providing internal controls.

Work Conducted by the Committee to Date

The responsibilities of ITRC include:

- Review of the ICASA IT strategy and provided recommendations
- Reviewed, identified gaps and made recommendation to the IT resource compliment and structure
- IT resource skills assessment
- Monitoring and tracking of major projects
- Review of Disaster Recovery Policy and Plan
- Reviewed the Draft ICASA’s Risk Appetite Framework
- Review of IT Governance Framework
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Governance:
ITRC

Conclusion 

The Committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled its mandate in all material aspects and had provided oversight and guidance to the 
Information Technology Unit and Management. 

The Committee is however concerned with the speed of addressing some of the audit weaknesses reported and the lack of 
human capacity of the IT Unit to support the business to fulfill its objectives. Further, some strategic Information Technology 
projects require greater projects management skills to enhance the rapid realization of ICASA goals. 

Lastly, the Committee applauds the realization of the refreshment and relocation projects, while also enhancing and improving 
the overall IT governance posture and position. 

_____________________________
Ms. Yolisa Skwintshi 
Chairperson of the Information Technology Review Committee
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Internal Controls

Internal Audit

In accordance with and as enshrined in the PFMA, the Internal Audit Division provided objective and independent assurance 
on the adequacy and effectiveness of ICASA’s governance, risk management and control processes. The Chief Audit Executive 
reports administratively to the Chief Executive Officer and functionally to the Authority’s AREDC, with unrestricted access to the 
Chairperson.  

Furthermore, Internal Audit had unrestricted access to information; and the internal audit activities are governed by the 
approved Internal Audit Charter and were discharged accordingly and in compliance with the National Treasury Regulations and 
the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing (ISPPIA).  ICASA’s Internal Audit function is based at 
the ICASA Head Office and reports centrally on processes across all ICASA’s operations. 

The Internal Audit activity completed twenty eight (28) audit projects as contained in its risk-based audit plan that was approved 
by the AREDC. Follow-up audits were conducted with the aim to review management implementation of previous audit findings 
by the Auditor-General and Internal Audit.  Furthermore, fifteen (15) ad hoc management requests were completed.

The Internal Audit activity is making steady progress with: 

- The implementation of integrated and combined assurance in a phased approach.
- Evaluating the maturity implementation of risk, compliance and governance management processes.
- Enhancing the more robust follow-up procedure, to ensure that actions are managed effectively to mitigate risks.
- The implementation of continuous monitoring for high risk processes.
- The implementation of Risk Control Self-Assessment for high risk processes within the Regional operations.
- The Quality Assurance Improvement Programme to ensure sound internal audit practice and processes.

Quarterly internal audit progress reports were submitted to the AREDC for their monitoring and oversight function.

Risk management overview

The PFMA requires effective, efficient and transparent 
systems of financial and risks management and internal 
control. ICASA adopts an enterprise-wide risk management 
approach to the management of risks. The enterprise risk 
management (ERM) methodology is followed across all 
functional areas and considers all root causes as well as all 
potential impacts (financial, operational, stakeholder, legal/
compliance etc.) that the risk may trigger. 

During the year the Risk and Compliance Management 
Committee was established to, inter alia, provide an oversight 
role and ensure the effective and effective management of 
ICASA’s risk and compliance management activities.

Risk champions for the business units continue to monitor and 
report on risks facing the business using the automated risk 
management system. This ensures that all risks are captured and 
reviewed on a quarterly basis. Risk workshops are conducted 
with staff where risks are identified and the ICASA risk register 
is updated with the identified risks. Risks are identified and 
reviewed on a regular basis and submitted to the AREDC for 
inputs and then recommended to the Council for approval. 
Awareness newsletters encouraging the culture of embracing 
risk management in employees’ day-to-day activities, are issued 
on regular basis.

Governance:
Internal Controls

6364



Risk management overview

A Risk Key Performance Area continues to form part of all 
managers’ performance contracts so as to ensure effective 
risk management within the organisation. 

The Authority has implemented risk action plans and 
maintained the risk maturity level 2. As per its predetermined 
objectives, the aim is to improve ICASA’s risk maturity level 
from ‘risk repeatable’ (level 2) to ‘risk defined’ (level 3) in 
2020/2021 financial year.

The Authority has revised the Risk and Opportunity Policy to 
enhance Enterprise Wide Risk Management. The Risk Appetite 
Framework was developed as the instrument to better align 
overall strategy, capital allocation, and risk. 

ICASA applies 5 lines of defense model as its operating model 
to govern risk across all divisions and departments as depicted 
in the diagram below.

ICASA Risk operating model

The Authority takes a holistic risk management approach and all risk management activities are aligned to corporate goals, 
objectives and the Authority’s priorities. The aim is to protect and enhance the reputation of the Authority. Council identified 10 
strategic risks and 1 emerging risk which may hinder the achievements of ICASA‘s strategic goals and performance targets for 
2018/19 financial year.

Governance:
Internal Controls
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The table below provides the risk mitigation measures implemented during the current financial in respect of ICASA strategic 
Risks.

Governance:
Internal Controls
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Fraud awareness

The Authority’s Fraud and Corruption Prevention Policy 
aims to create a culture of zero tolerance to fraud 
and provide guidelines on prevention,  detection and 
investigation of incidents of corruption/fraud. ICASA’s 
independent external hotline service (Whistle Blower fraud 
hotline) continues to guarantee employees, suppliers, 
consultants and members of the public their anonymity 
when reporting any incidents of fraud. Workshops and 
awareness newsletters encouraging safe and effective 
whistleblowing were conducted and issued, respectively. 

Code of Ethics

ICASA subscribes to and promotes the principles of good 
ethical conduct in line with good governance principles, as 
set out in the Code of ethical conduct and disclosure of 
interest. The Code outlines the minimum ethical standards 
of behavior that is expected from Councillors, the CEO and 
employees of ICASA which include honesty, fair dealing, 
integrity, good morals and ethical values in their conduct.    

All Councilors, the CEO and employees are required to 
disclose any financial or business interest on an annual basis 
or when the conflict arises.  The Code also sets stringent 
standards relating to the acceptance of gifts from third 
parties and declarations of potential conflict of interests. 
Declaration of interests are signed at every Council, 
governance, bid committee and executive management 
meetings. In instances where potential conflict is declared, 
members will recuse themselves from deliberations 
on the matters. Compliance with the Code enhances 
professionalism and maintain public confidence in the 
Authority as an independent public body. 

The Whistle Blower fraud hotline can be used by employees, 
stakeholders and members of the public to report suspected 
unethical conduct. Workshops and newsletters encouraging 
effective whistleblowing were presented throughout the 
year to employees.

Health, Safety and Environmental issues 

ICASA is committed to providing and maintaining a safe and healthy working environment for all its employees, stakeholders and 
interested parties.  Therefore, ICASA always strives to comply with the OHS Act number 85 of 1993 as amended.  

To ensure compliance of OHS statutory requirements, ICASA has put in place the following measures:

- An Occupational Health & Safety Policy;
- An OHS Policy Statement, displayed at our offices as required by the OHS Act;
- SHE Representatives, First Aiders and Fire Marshalls were appointed as per OHS Act;
- Annual OHS plan;
- Training and awareness in all aspects of safety, health and environment to assist the Authority in fulfilling its statutory and

common law duties of care;

Occupational Health & Safety Committee

The purpose of the Committee is to monitor and implement OHS related business decisions and oversee compliance with the 
OHS Policy and the Act. Some of the operational activities undertaken by the Committee in the 2018/19 financial year include:

- Conducting emergency evacuation drills at Head Office and Regional Offices, preparing employees, contractors,
stakeholders and/or interested parties in the event of a real life-threatening situation arising;

- Investigate and report various OHS incidents in Head Office and Regional offices;
- Providing competent and professional advice on a range of safety, health and environmental issues occurring within

ICASA;
- Personal Protective Equipment & Clothing (PPE) is provided to employees whose work requires it; and
- A two-day workshop was organised for all SHE Representatives to discuss OHS Policy and OHS documents.

Governance:
Internal Controls
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SECTION D: 
HUMAN RESOURCE 
MANAGEMENT



Introduction

The Human Resources Division is the custodian of the overall 
Human Capital Management function (HCM). HCM ensures that 
ICASA delivers on its mandate and achieves its strategic goals 
through the best utilisation of its human capital.  The functions’ 
long-term vision is to work in partnership with business to 
create an environment in which employees thrive and can 
deliver superior and sustained organisational performance. 

The Human Resource division has identified two strategic 
priorities:  

1. To maintain a vacancy rate of 7%;
2. Review organisational structure which will address

the incongruence between ICASA’s structure and the
strategy.

Workforce Plan 

ICASA uses a systematic method to identify and analyse organisational workforce needs culminating in a workforce plan. The 
resulting workforce plan ensures the sustainable organisational ability to pursue and achieve strategic and operational goals. 
The workforce plan sets out the actions necessary to have the right people in the right place at the right time. This requires the 
fulfilment of the following sub-objectives: 

1. To design a strategic workforce plan which meets the Authority’s needs in consultation with line management, taking
into account workforce and labour market trends;

2. To align the workforce planning cycle with the Authority’s strategic planning and budget cycle;
3. To ensure appropriate budget or cost modelling to prepare the budget for the workforce plan;
4. To provide an adequate supply of qualified staff by sourcing and developing a future supply of the right skills to meet

the Authority’s needs.

Performance 

ICASA follows a planned process to direct, develop, support, and improve individual and team performance to enable a sustained 
achievement of organisational goals. The Authority implements the planned process through comprehensive performance 
management within the organisation. Inclusive performance management involves the following sub-objectives: 

1. To cascade the Authority’s performance goals to teams and individual performance targets and after that measure
progress against the agreed objectives;

2. To develop a performance culture by establishing a relevant performance management system, process and methodology
tailored to the needs, size, and complexity of ICASA;

3. To link performance management to other HR processes to align achieved performance to consequences and incentives
that motivate employees and address poor performance;

4. To embed fair, ethical and organisational cultural practices focusing on the attainment of sustainable performance targets.

Human Resource Management:
Overview

Section D: 
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Employee Wellness 

ICASA affords its employees a safe, healthy and socially conducive work environment. The working environment enables employees 
to perform optimally. This conducive work environment enables ICASA to meet all health and safety legislative requirements as 
well as good wellness practices. The safety, health and wellness objectives require the fulfilment of the following sub-objectives: 

1. To enable employees to manage their physical, mental, spiritual, financial and social well-being;
2. To manage employee wellness issues that can harm employees› ability to deliver on the Authority’s objectives;
3. To promote a safe and healthy working environment encouraging high productivity and to preserve

human life and health;
4. To enhance Employment Value Proposition (EVP) by fostering a culture of individual health and wellness.

To fulfil its mandate, ICASA acknowledges the value that employees from diverse backgrounds bring and add to the organisation, 
as such it is fully committed to the aim of the Employment Equity Act (Act No. 55 of 1998) (EEA). The commitment to transformation 
and employment equity is considered a high business priority which will feature with prominence in our business leadership.

ICASA will demonstrate its commitment by taking active steps to promote employment equity in the workplace through:

1. Implementing transformation interventions, which are aligned with and driving ICASA business strategy to ensure a high-  
    performance culture;
2. Enabling a fair representation of the workforce by attracting, developing and retaining employees from the designated groups; 
3. Implementing working diversity management initiatives to establish and maintain an all- inclusive culture conducive to

transformation;
4. Making reasonable accommodation for employees from the designated groups.

During the year under review the division coordinated the process of reviewing the Authority’s organisational structure. The 
revised corporate structure will prepare ICASA to spearhead the 4th Industrial Revolution requirements.

Human Resource Management:
Overview
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Human Resoure Oversight Statistics

Personnel Cost by programme

Staff Complement

Divisional Personnel Costs

Human Resource Management:
Statistics

Vacancy rate educed by 98% from 5.9% to 2.53% which is an achievement as this is the first time the Authority has achieved 
such a low vacancy rate. 

Personnel costs increased by 4% from R290 165 327 to R330 000 183.

Personnel costs increased by 6.6% from R 290 165 330 to R 309 623 386

7774



Training Costs

Headcount and Vacancies per Occupational Level 

Human Resource Management:
Statistics

ICASA spent an amount of R 6 623 203 on training in the year under review. This expenditure translates into an average of 
R 33 518 .45 per employee. This is an amount of training that improves ICASA Employees’ value proposition. 235 of employees 
benefited from the training

ICASA has 356 approved positions, 9 of the positions in the structure are active vacancies, which translates to a vacancy rate of 
2,53%. HR excluded some positions in the above calculation of the vacancy rate.
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ICASA employed 19 new staff members, which has contributed to the reduced vacancy rate. The increased number of new 
employees will help ICASA fulfill its mandate efficiently.

Reasons for staff attrition

Organisations consider a turnover higher than 10% as high. 2016/17 fiscal year ICASA had a high turnover which was at 10%, 
then the turnover started to decline, by the end of 2017/18 financial year the rate had dropped to 8% and continued to decline 
in 2017/18 to 6.5%. Currently, the turnover is 2.53%. Most employees leave the organisation for various reasons including 
resignations.

Labour Relations: Misconduct and disciplinary action

There were 300% less disciplinary cases in 2017/18 than 2018/19 fiscal year. The drastic reduction of cases signals an 
improvement in relations between ICASA and its employees.

Human Resource Management:
Statistics

Employment changes
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Equity Target and Employment Equity Status

The table above shows that females are under-represented at skilled, professionally qualified and senior management; while 
the same group is dominant in semi-skilled and unskilled levels. The recruitment of females at the professional and skilled 
occupational levels will be prioritised. 

Blacks are well represented from Top management to Semi-skilled levels with a slight over representation on the senior 
management level; while whites, both males and females are under represented in most levels, especially at  a senior and top 
management.

Disabled staff per gender

The above tables compare the demographics of ICASA’s headcount to targets based on the Economically Active Population of SA 
of South Africa (EAP). Five people are living with disabilities in the Authority.

Human Resource Management:
Statistics
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SECTION E: 
Complaints & 
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The Complaints and Compliance Committee is an independent 
administrative Tribunal established in terms  of the ICASA ACT 
13 of 2000. read with section 192 of the Constitution of the 
RSA. It has been recognised by the Constitutional Court as 
an administrative tribunal which may also set aside decisions 
of licensees, which includes the SA Post Office and the SABC, 
where relevant legislation has been transgressed. 

The CCC has decided more than 350 matters since 2007. It, 
inter-alia, decides on disputes referred to it by the Authority 
or filed with it in terms of the ICASA Act of 2000 as amended. 
The recommendations of the CCC as approved by the Council 
of ICASA are final and binding; and can only be reviewed by  a 
Court of Law. 

The Tribunal also decides on complaints from outside ICASA 
in terms of the Electronic Communications Act 2005, the 
Broadcasting Act 1999 or the Postal Services Act 1998 (where 
registered postal services are included). Where a complaint is 
upheld, the matter is referred to the Council of ICASA with a 
recommendation as to an order against the licensee. Council 
then considers an order in the light of the recommendation by 
the CCC and if it agrees, confirms the order. The Coordinator of 
the CCC then issues the judgment to the parties and publishes 
it on the ICASA Website. 

The Authority is obliged in terms of Section 17A of the ICASA Act No. 13 of 2000 to establish the Complaints and Compliance 
Committee which comprises of seven members. The following members form part of the Committee, namely: 

i. Prof. JCW van Rooyen SC, (Chairperson of the CCC)
ii. Dr. Keabetswe Modimoeng (Council Representative on the CCC)
iii. Prof. Kasturi Moodaliyar
iv. Dr. Jacob Medupe
v. Mr. Peter Hlapolosa
vi. Mr. Mzimkulu Malunga
vii. Mr. Jack Tlokana

The aforementioned members are appointed for a three year term. The CCC Members must investigate, hear if appropriate and 
make a finding on all matters referred to it in terms of section 17B or C of the ICASA Act. Added to that are the disputes which 
the CCC resolves in terms of the Electronic Communications Act 2005.

Complaints & Compliance Committee:
Chairperson’s Report
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The Structure of the CCC Office

Complaints & Compliance Committee:
Chairperson’s Report

The Office of the CCC is the entry point to this Tribunal, in that all complaints and disputes are lodged with the Coordinator of the 
CCC. It supports the Committee by assessing and investigating all complaints and disputes lodged with the Tribunal. The Office
compiles the portfolio of evidence and presents it to the Committee to enable adjudication.

The aforementioned tasks are executed by the following personnel, namely:
(i) Ms. Lindisa M. Mabulu, CCC: Coordinator
(ii) Ms. Amukelani Vukeya, CCC Administrator
(iii) Ms. Meera Lalla, CCC Assessor
(iv) Ms. Xola Mantshintshi, CCC Assessor
(v) Mr. Thamsanqa Mtolo, CCC Assessor
(vi) Mr. Siyakha Plaatyi, CCC Graduate

In the period under review the Authority overcame the fundamental challenge of the CCC when it capacitated its Office by 
appointing three CCC Assessors as permanent staff members.

The Role of the CCC 

The CCC’s practice of Ubuntu to execute its mandate

An extract from Alan & CH van Rhee states the following about tribunals in the African context, “(The concept of a) Tribunal was 
not coined in indigenous systems which instead relied on a practice known as Makgotla (Meeting) which fostered the principles 
of “ubuntu”. Ubuntu encouraged the nurturing of community development of the Unit or Tribe through the recognition of 
common humaneness. The practice of ubuntu espouses Alternate Dispute Resolution (ADR) mechanisms in terms of mediation 
of disputes. It is apparent that the heart of adjudication lies in the notion of reconciliation and or restoration of justice”.  

Broadly, each broadcaster is also obliged to uphold the principle of Ubuntu. In this regard, the CCC agrees with what Justice 
Mokgoro stated in Dikoko vs Mokhatla 2006(6) SA 235(CC) at paragraph [69]: The … courts should attempt, wherever feasible, to 
re-establish a dignified and respectful relationship between the parties.

Because an apology serves to recognise the human dignity of the plaintiff, thus acknowledging, in the true sense of ubuntu, his or 
her inner humanity, the resultant harmony would serve the good of both the plaintiff and the defendant… Our law in this area 
should be developed in the light of the values of ubuntu emphasising restorative rather than retributive justice. The goal should be 
to knit together shattered relationships in the community and encourage across-the-board respect for the basic norms of human 
and   social interdependence. 

It is an area where courts should be proactive, encouraging apology and mutual understanding wherever possible.” (emphasis 
added)

A substantial number of judgments, including that of our Constitutional Court, has emphasized the role of Ubuntu in the 
development of our Law. 
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In applying the principle of ubuntu during the course of the CCC proceedings in the matter of Alex FM Listeners Forum 
vs Alex FM, the Chairperson of the CCC, remarked as follows: “Let us today state, as the CCC, that we expect a hand of friendship 
to come from both sides and the parties to have a meeting after this hearing to make sure that friendship and recognition is 
present and remains present. The core is that we want peace between the parties - ultimately ICASA wants splendid radio and in 
the absence of understanding and friendship, that is impossible“. 

The principle of Ubuntu has also been considered as a basis for a defense in the field of contracts by the CCC. In reiterating the 
spirit of “ubuntu,” regulation 13(1) of the Community Broadcasting Services Regulations 2019 states that “a licensee must ensure 
that ownership of the community broadcasting licensee remains with the community it served.”

In the year under review, the CCC held 21 sessions.

One of the matters to highlight is the CCA vs WOW Television, wherein the issue of the interpretation of the definition of 
“broadcasting” came under scrutiny in light of the licensee broadcasting on YouTube. It was held that this does not amount 
to broadcasting. WOW TV was given an opportunity to revisit the meaning of broadcasting as contained in the Electronic 
Communications Act.

Complaints & Compliance Committee:
Chairperson’s Report

Awareness Campaigns

Awareness Campaigns highlighting the CCC’s processes were conducted by the Office of the CCC to ensure that stakeholders’ 
rights to be heard and access to justice were enforced. 

The aforementioned campaigns were conducted in six Provinces and comprised of the following activities:
- One on one with consumers
- Addressing stakeholders at community halls
- Distribution of pamphlets
- Radio interviews

In terms of section 17E(2)(d)(ii) of the ICASA Act, the CCC may recommend that an order be issued by the Authority to revoke a 
license where the licensee has repeatedly been found in contravention of material violations of its license.  
On 16 November 2018, the Council of ICASA approved the recommendation of the CCC to revoke the license of Karabo FM due 
to having, repeatedly, been found guilty of material violations of its license conditions. An attempt by the CCC at reconciling the 
parties also failed.  

Revocation of Karabo FM’s Licence

______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
 U Alan & CH van Rhee ‘Transformation of Civil Justice: Unity and Diversity’ in Civil Litigation in R Baboolal-Frank Tribunals in South Africa: Creating a Unified Tribunal System (2018) 81, 86.
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Conclusion

I wish to thank all the Members of the CCC for their continuous dedication as a team in successfully executing our 
mandate. I would further like to extend special gratitude to Dr K. Modimoeng, Council Representative, for his immeasurable 
contribution in advancing the accomplishments of the CCC and the Coordinator’s Office for their continued support of 
the commitee.

I wish to conclude by quoting, The Honourable Late Chief Justice Langa, who cites Kwame Gyekye: “an individual human 
person cannot develop and achieve the fullness of his/her potential without the concrete act of relating to other individual 
persons“.

_______________________________
Prof. JCW Van Rooyen SC
Chairperson of the CCC

Complaints & Compliance Committee:
Chairperson’s Report
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Committee Membership and Attendance

Terms of Office

The members depicted in Table 1 served on the CCC during the period under review:

Number of Complaints adjudicated by the CCC during the period under review

Complaints & Compliance Committee:
Chairperson’s Report
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Annual Financial Statements:
Report by the Accounting Officer

The Accounting Officer is required by the Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999) (PFMA), to maintain adequate account-

ing records and is responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial statements and related financial information 

included in this report. It is the responsibility of the Accounting Officer to ensure that the annual financial statements fairly 

present the state of affairs of the Authority as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for 

the period then ended.

The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual financial statements and were given 

unrestricted access to all financial records and related data. The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance 

with Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives is-

sued by the Accounting Standards Board.

The annual financial statements are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by rea-

sonable and prudent judgements and estimates. The accounting Officer acknowledges that he is ultimately responsible for the 

system of internal financial control established by the Authority and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong 

control environment. To enable the Accounting Officer to meet these responsibilities, the Accounting Officer sets standards for 

internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or deficit in a cost-effective manner.

The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting pro-

cedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout 

the Authority and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the Authority’s business is 

conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is beyond reproach. The focus of risk management in the Authority 

is that of identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the Authority.

While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the Authority endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastruc-

ture, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Accounting Officer is of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of 

internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the annual 

financial statements.

However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material 

misstatement or deficit. The auditors are responsible for auditing and reporting on the Authority’s annual financial statements. 

The annual financial statements have been examined by the Authority’s external auditors and their report is presented below.

The annual financial statements set out in the Annual Report, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were ap-

proved by the Accounting Officer on 31 July 2019 and were signed on its behalf by:

_______________________

Willington Ngwepe
Chief Executive Officer

31 July 2019
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Annual Financial Statements:
Report by the Auditor-General

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion 

1. I have audited the financial statements of the
Independent Communications Authority of South Africa
(Icasa) set out on pages 93 to 148 which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019,
the statement of financial performance, the statement
of changes in net assets, and the cash flow statement
and the statement of comparison of budget and actual
amounts for the year then ended, as well as the notes to
the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.

2. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in
all material respects, the financial position of Icasa as at 31
March 2019, and its financial performance and cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with the South
African Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting
Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) and the requirements of
the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999
(Act no. 1 of 1999) (PFMA).

Context for the opinion

3. I conducted my audit in accordance with the International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the auditor-
general’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of this auditor’s report.

4. I am independent of the entity in accordance with
sections 290 and 291 of the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ Code of ethics for professional
accountants, parts 1 and 3 of the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International
Independence Standards) (IESBA codes) and the ethical
requirements that are relevant to my audit in South
Africa. I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the IESBA codes.

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
opinion.

Report of the auditor-general to Parliament on the Independent
Communications Authority of South Africa (Icasa)

Emphasis of matter

6. I draw attention to the following matter below. My opinion
is not modified in respect of this matter.

Material impairments – National Revenue Fund 
receivables

7. As disclosed in note 5 to the financial statements, the entity
has impaired receivables from non- exchange transactions of
R258 092 587 (2018: R245 176 927) as a result of potential
irrecoverable receivables from non-exchange transactions.

Responsibilities of the accounting officer for the 
financial statements 

8. The accounting officer is responsible for the preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with SA Standards of GRAP and the requirements of the
PFMA, and for such internal control as the accounting officer
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

9. In preparing the financial statements, the accounting
officer is responsible for assessing the Icasa’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
relating to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the appropriate governance structure
either intends to liquidate the Independent Communications
Authority of South Africa or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.
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Annual Financial Statements:
Report by the Auditor-General

Auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

10. My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

11. A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is included in the annexure to this
auditor’s report.

15. I performed procedures to determine whether the reported performance information was properly presented and
whether performance was consistent with the approved performance planning documents. I performed further procedures to
determine whether the indicators and related targets were measurable and relevant, and assessed the reliability of the reported 
performance information to determine whether it was valid, accurate and complete.

16. The material findings in respect of the usefulness of the selected programmes are as follows:

Report on the audit of the annual performance report

Introduction and scope

12. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act no. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and the general notice issued in terms
thereof, I have a responsibility to report material findings on the reported performance information against predetermined
objectives for selected programmes presented in the annual performance report. I performed procedures to identify findings
but not to gather evidence to express assurance.

13. My procedures address the reported performance information, which must be based on the approved performance
planning documents of the constitutional entity. I have not evaluated the completeness and appropriateness of the performance 
indicators/ measures included in the planning documents. My procedures also did not extend to any disclosures or assertions
relating to planned performance strategies and information in respect of future periods that may be included as part of the
reported performance information. Accordingly, my findings do not extend to these matters.

14. I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information in accordance with the criteria developed
from the performance management and reporting framework, as defined in the general notice, for the following selected
programmes presented in the annual performance report of the constitutional institution for the year ended 31 March 2019.
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Annual Financial Statements:
Report by the Auditor-General

Programme 3 policy, research and analysis

Number of comments on policy changes submitted

17. The planned target for this indicator was not specific in clearly identifying the nature and required level of performance and
was not measurable.the year ended 31 March 2019.

Number of impact assessment studies conducted

18. The planned target for this indicator was not specific in clearly identifying the nature and required level of performance.

19. I did not raise any material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information for these
programmes:

• Programme 2 – licensing
• Programme 4 – engineering and technology
• Programme 5 – regions
• Programme 6 – consumer and compliance affairs.

Other matters

20. I draw attention to the matters below.

Achievement of planned targets

21. Refer to the annual performance report on page(s) 22 to 49 for information on the achievement of planned targets for the
year and explanations provided for the under or over-achievement of a significant number of targets. This information should
be considered in the context of the material findings on the usefulness of the reported performance information in paragraph(s)
17 and 18 of this report.

Adjustment of material misstatements

22. I identified material misstatements in the annual performance report submitted for auditing. These material misstatements
were on the reported performance information of Programme 2: licensing, programme 3: policy research analysis, programme
4: engineering and technology, programme 5: regions and programme 6: compliance and consumer affairs. As management
subsequently corrected only some of the misstatements, I raised material findings on the usefulness of the reported performance
information. Those that were not corrected are reported above.
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Annual Financial Statements:
Report by the Auditor-General

Report on the audit of compliance with legislation

Introduction and scope

23. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report material findings
on the compliance of the Independent Communications Authority of South Africa with specific matters in key legislation.
I performed procedures to identify findings but not to gather evidence to express assurance.

24. The material findings on compliance with specific matters in key legislation are as follows:

Expenditure management

25. Effective and appropriate steps were not taken to prevent irregular expenditure of R24 005 632, disclosed in note 34 to the
annual financial statements, as required by section 38(1)(c)(ii) of the PFMA and treasury regulation 9.1.1.

26. Payments are made within 30 days or an agreed period after receipt of an invoice, as required by treasury regulation for all
service providers 8.2.3.

Consequence management

27. Disciplinary steps were not taken against officials who incurred or permitted irregular expenditure and fruitless and wasteful
expenditure as required by section 38(1)(h)(iii) of the PFMA.

28. Some of the losses resulting from fruitless and wasteful expenditure were not recovered from the liable persons, as required
by treasury regulation 9.1.4.

Procurement and contract management

29. Some goods and services with a transaction value below R500 000 were procured without obtaining the required price
quotations, as required by treasury regulation 16A6.1. Similar non-compliance was also reported in the prior year.

30. Some contracts were extended or modified without the approval of a properly delegated official as required by section 44 of
the PFMA and treasury regulations 8.1 and 8.2. Similar non-compliance was also reported in the prior year.

31. Some contracts and quotations were awarded to bidders that did not score the highest points in the evaluation process, as
required by section 2(1)(f) of Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act and Preferential Procurement Regulations.

Annual financial statements

32. The financial statements submitted for auditing were not prepared in accordance with the prescribed financial reporting
framework as required by section 40(1)(a) of the PFMA. Material misstatements of current liabilities, cash flow statement,
property plant and equipment and provisions identified by the auditors in the submitted financial statements were corrected,
resulting in the financial statements receiving an unqualified opinion.
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Other information

33. The accounting officer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in
the annual report which includes the audit committee’s report. The other information does not include the financial statements,
the auditor’s report and those selected programmes presented in the annual performance report that have been specifically
reported in this auditor’s report.

34. My opinion on the financial statements and findings on the reported performance information and compliance with legislation
do not cover the other information and I do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

35. In connection with my audit, my responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements and the selected programmes presented in the annual
performance report, or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

36. I did not receive the other information prior to the date of this auditor’s report. When I do receive and read this information,
if I conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, I am required to communicate the matter to those charged with
governance and request that the other information be corrected. If the other information is not corrected, I may have to retract
this auditor’s report and re-issue an amended report as appropriate. However, if it is corrected this will not be necessary.

   Internal control deficiencies

37. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, reported performance information and
compliance with applicable legislation; however, my objective was not to express any form of assurance on it. The matters
reported below are limited to the significant internal control deficiencies that resulted in the findings on the annual performance 
report and the findings on compliance with legislation included in this report.

38. Controls were not always effective to ensure oversight monitoring and review of compliance with laws and regulations and
the annual performance report.

39. Consequence management was not implemented by leadership against employees who incurred or permitted irregular
and fruitless and wasteful expenditure as required by PFMA.

40. Management did not perform adequate review of the annual performance report and annual  financial statements
submitted for audit purposes, as material misstatements were identified and subsequently corrected.

41. Management did not implement adequate controls to prevent and detect non-compliance with laws and regulations
which resulted in irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure.

Pretoria
31 July 2019
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Annexure – Auditor-general’s responsibility for the audit

1. As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, I exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout my audit of the financial statements, and the procedures performed on reported performance information 
for selected programmes and on the constitutional entity’s compliance with respect to the selected subject matters.

Financial statements

2. In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the financial statements as described in this auditor’s report, I also:

•identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the constitutional entity’s internal
control.

•evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the accounting officer.

•conclude on the appropriateness of the accounting officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of
the financial statements. I also conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Independent Communications Authority of South Africa’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements about the material uncertainty or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify the opinion on the financial statements. My conclusions are based on the information available to me at the date of
this auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the constitutional Institution to cease continuing as a going
concern.

•evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Communication with those charged with governance

3. I communicate with the accounting officer regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit.

4. I also confirm to the accounting officer that I have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
communicate all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to have a bearing on my independence and,
where applicable, related safeguards.
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1. Presentation of Annual Financial Statements

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practice (GRAP), issued by the Accounting Standards Board in accordance with Section 91(1) of the Public Finance Management 
Act (Act 1 of 1999).

These annual financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting and are in accordance with historical 
cost convention as the basis of measurement, unless specified otherwise. They are presented in South African Rand.

A summary of the significant accounting policies, which have been consistently applied in the preparation of these annual 
financial statements, are disclosed below.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

1.1   Presentation currency

These annual financial statements are presented in South African Rand, which is the functional currency of the Authority.

1.2   Going concern assumption

These annual financial statements have been prepared based on the expectation that the Authority will continue to operate as 
a going concern for at least the next 12 months.

1.3   Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

In preparing the annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts represented in the annual financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available information and the application 
of judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates which may 
be material to the annual financial statements. Significant judgements include:

Trade receivables / Held to maturity investments and/or loans and receivables

The Authority assesses its trade receivables, held to maturity investments and loans and receivables for impairment at the end 
of each reporting period. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in surplus or deficit, the surplus makes 
judgements as to whether there is observable data indicating a measurable decrease/increase in the estimated future cash flows 
from a financial asset.

Allowance for slow moving, damaged and obsolete stock

An allowance for inventory to write stock down to the lower of cost or net realisable value. Management have made estimates 
of the selling price and direct cost to sell on certain inventory items. The write down is included in the operation surplus note.
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Impairment testing

The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined based on the higher of value- in-
use calculations and fair values less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions.

The Authority reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. If there are indications that impairment may have occurred, estimates are prepared of expected 
future cash flows for each group of assets. Expected future cash flows used to determine the value in use of tangible assets 
are inherently uncertain and could materially change over time. They are significantly affected by a number of entity- specific 
variables such as existing disputes between the Authority and the licensee and long outstanding fees billed under repealed 
regulations, as well as economic factors such as inflation, exchange rates and interest.

Provisions

Provisions were raised and management determined an estimate based on the information available. Additional disclosure of 
these estimates of provisions are included in note 16 - Provisions. 

Allowance for doubtful debts

On debtors an impairment loss is recognised in surplus and deficit when there is objective evidence that it is impaired. The 
impairment is measured as the difference between the debtors carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the effective interest rate, computed at initial recognition.

1.4   Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets (including infrastructure assets) that are held for use in the 
production or supply of goods or services, rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and are expected to be used during 
more than one period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when: 
- it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to theAuthority:
- and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the purchase price and other costs attributable to bring the asset to the 
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Trade discounts and 
rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost. 

Where an asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, its cost is its fair value as at date of acquisition. 

Where an item of property, plant and equipment is acquired in exchange for a non-monetary asset or monetary assets, or a 
combination of monetary and non-monetary assets, the asset acquired is initially measured at fair value (the cost). If the acquired 
item›s fair value was not determinable, it›s deemed cost is the carrying amount of the asset(s) given up.

When significant components of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.
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Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred 
subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of 
property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located is also included 
in the cost of property, plant and equipment, where the entity is obligated to incur such expenditure, and where the obligation 
arises as a result of acquiring the asset or using it for purposes other than the production of inventories.

Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment ceases when the item is in the location 
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Items such as spare parts, standby equipment and servicing equipment are recognised when they meet the definition of 
property, plant and equipment.

Major inspection costs which are a condition of continuing use of an item of property, plant and equipment and which meet the 
recognition criteria above are included as a replacement in the cost of the item of property, plant and equipment. Any remaining 
inspection costs from the previous inspection are derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight line basis over their expected useful lives to their estimated 
residual value.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. 
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The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

The depreciable amount of an asset is allocated on a systematic basis over its useful life.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is 
depreciated separately.

The depreciation method used reflects the pattern in which the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential are expected 
to be consumed by the Authority. The depreciation method applied to an asset is reviewed at least at each reporting date and, if 
there has been a significant change in the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits or service potential 
embodied in the asset, the method is changed to reflect the changed pattern. Such a change is accounted for as a change in an 
accounting estimate.

The Authority assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that the Authority expectations about the residual 
value and the useful life of an asset have changed since the preceding reporting date. If any such indication exists, the Authority 
revises the expected useful life and/or residual value accordingly. The change is accounted for as a change in an accounting 
estimate.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying amount of another 
asset.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised when the asset is disposed of or when there are no further economic 
benefits or service potential expected from the use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or deficit 
when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

Assets which the Authority holds for rentals to others and subsequently routinely sell as part of the ordinary course of activities, 
are transferred to inventories when the rentals end and the assets are available-for-sale. Proceeds from sales of these assets 
are recognised as revenue. All cash flows on these assets are included in cash flows from operating activities in the cash flow 
statement.

The Authority separately discloses expenditure to repair and maintain property, plant and equipment in the notes to the financial 
statements (see note 22).
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1.5   Site restoration and dismantling cost

The Authority has an obligation to dismantle, remove and restore items of equipment. Such obligations are referred to as
‘decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities’. The cost of an item of equipment includes the initial estimate of the costs 
of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located, the obligation for which an Authority incurs 
either when the item is acquired or as a consequence of having used the item during a particular period for purposes other than 
to produce inventories during that period. 

If the related asset is measured using the cost model:

(a) subject to (b), changes in the liability are added to, or deducted from, the cost of the related asset in the current period;
(b) if a decrease in the liability exceeds the carrying amount of the asset, the excess is recognised immediately in surplus or
deficit; and
(c) if the adjustment results in an addition to the cost of an asset, the Authority considers whether this is an indication that the
new carrying amount of the asset may not be fully recoverable. If it is such an indication, the asset is tested for impairment by
estimating its recoverable amount or recoverable service amount, and any impairment loss is recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy on impairment of cash-generating assets and/or impairment of non-cash-generating assets.

1.6   Intangible assets

An asset is identifiable if it either:

- is separable, i.e. is capable of being separated or divided from an entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or exchanged,
either individually or together with a related contract, identifiable assets or liability, regardless of whether
the entity intends to do so;

- arises  from  binding  arrangements  (including  rights  from contracts), regardless of whether those rights are transferable or
separable from the Authority or from other rights and obligations.

A binding arrangement describes an arrangement that confers similar rights and obligations on the parties to it as if it were in
the form of a contract.

An intangible asset is recognised when:
- it is probable that the expected future economic benefits or service potential that are attributable to the asset will flow to the

Authority; and
- the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.

The Authority assesses the probability of expected future economic benefits or service potential using reasonable and 
supportable assumptions that represent management’s best estimate of the set of economic conditions that will exist over the 
useful life of the asset.

Where an intangible asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, its initial cost at the date of acquisition is measured 
at its fair value as at that date.

Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an internal project) is recognised as an expense when it is incurred.
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An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised when:
- it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be available for use or sale.
- there is an intention to complete and use or sell it.
- there is an ability to use or sell it.
- it will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential.
- there are available technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the asset.
- the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is no foreseeable limit 
to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows or service potential. Amortisation is not provided for 
these intangible assets, but they are tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be 
impaired. For all other intangible assets amortisation is provided on a straight line basis over their useful life.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date.

Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite is an indicator that the 
asset may be impaired. As a result, the asset is tested for impairment and the remaining carrying amount is amortised over its 
useful life.

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and items similar in substance are not recognised as 
intangible assets. Internally generated goodwill is not recognised as an intangible asset.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values as follows:

The Authority discloses relevant information relating to assets under construction or development, in the notes to the financial 
statements (see note 9).

1.7   Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or a residual interest 
of another entity.

The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is 
measured at initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective 
interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, and minus any reduction (directly or 
through the use of an allowance account) for impairment or uncollectibility.

A concessionary loan is a loan granted to or received by an entity on terms that are not market related.

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge 
an obligation.

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
foreign exchange rates.
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Derecognition is the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability from an entity’s statement of financial 
position.

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics:

- its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign
exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other variable, provided in the case of a non-financial
variable that the variable is not specific to a party to the contract (sometimes called the ‘underlying’).

- It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for other types of
contracts that would be expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors.

- It is settled at a future date.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of 
allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, 
a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. 

When calculating the effective interest rate, an entity shall estimate cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial 
instrument (for example, prepayment) but shall not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees and points 
paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs, and all 
other premiums or discounts. There is a presumption that the cash flows and the expected life of a group of similar financial 
instruments can be estimated reliably. However, in those rare cases when it is not possible to reliably estimate the cash flows 
or the expected life of a financial instrument, the entity shall use the contractual cash flows over the full contractual term of the 
financial instrument.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable willing parties in 
an arm’s length transaction.

A financial asset is:
- cash;
- a residual interest of another entity; or
- a contractual right to:
- receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or
- exchange  financial  assets  or  financial  liabilities  with  another  entity  under  conditions  that  are  potentially
favourable to the entity.

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a 
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of 
a debt instrument.

A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to:
- deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or
- exchange financial assets or financial liabilities under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the entity.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates.

Liquidity risk is the risk encountered by an entity in the event of difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities 
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
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Loan commitment is a firm commitment to provide credit under pre-specified terms and conditions. Loans payable are financial 
liabilities, other than short-term payables on normal credit terms.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors 
specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the 
market.

A financial asset is past due when a counterparty has failed to make a payment when contractually due.

A residual interest is any contract that manifests an interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. A
residual interest includes contributions from owners, which may be shown as:

- equity instruments or similar forms of unitised capital;
- a formal designation of a transfer of resources (or a class of such transfers) by the parties to the transaction as forming part

of an entity’s net assets, either before the contribution occurs or at the time of the contribution; or
- a formal agreement, in relation to the contribution, establishing or increasing an existing financial interest in the

net assets of an entity.

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset or
financial liability. An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the entity had not acquired, issued or disposed
of the financial instrument.

Financial instruments at amortised cost are non-derivative financial assets or non-derivative financial liabilities that have fixed or
determinable payments, excluding those instruments that:
- entity designates at fair value at initial recognition; or
- are held for trading.

Financial instruments at cost are investments in residual interests that do not have a quoted market price in an active market, 
and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured.

Financial instruments at fair value comprise financial assets or financial liabilities that are:

- derivatives;
- combined instruments that are designated at fair value;
- instruments held for trading. A financial instrument is held for trading if:
- it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near-term; or
- on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there

is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short term profit-taking;
- non-derivative financial assets or financial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are designated at fair value at

initial recognition; and
- financial instruments that do not meet the definition of financial instruments at amortised cost or financial instruments at cost.
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1.8   Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is 
classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

When a lease includes both land and buildings elements, the entity assesses the classification of each element separately.

Finance leases - lessee

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair value of 
the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is 
included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments is the interest rate implicit in the lease. 

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. 

The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of on the 
remaining balance of the liability.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Operating leases - lessor

Operating lease revenue is recognised as revenue on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging operating leases are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset 
and recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the lease revenue.

The aggregate cost of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental revenue over the lease term on a straight-line basis. 

The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Income for leases is disclosed under revenue in statement of financial performance.

Operating leases - lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between 
the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease asset or liability.

1.9   Inventories

Inventories are initially measured at cost except where inventories are acquired through a non-exchange transaction, then their 
costs are their fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Subsequently inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and current replacement cost where they are held for;
- distribution at no charge or for a nominal charge; or
- consumption in the production process of goods to be distributed at no charge or for a nominal charge.
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Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of operations less the estimated costs of completion and 
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale, exchange or distribution.

Current replacement cost is the cost the Authority incurs to acquire the asset on the reporting date.

The cost of inventories comprises of all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories 
to their present location and condition.

The cost of inventories of items that are not ordinarily interchangeable and goods or services produced and segregated for 
specific projects is assigned using specific identification of the individual costs.

The cost of inventories is assigned using the weighted average cost formula. The same cost formula is used for all inventories 
having a similar nature and use to the Authority. 

When inventories are sold, the carrying amounts of those inventories are recognised as an expense in the period in which the 
related revenue is recognised. If there is no related revenue, the expenses are recognised when the goods are distributed, 
or related services are rendered. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value or current replacement 
cost and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of 
any reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising from an increase in net realisable value or current replacement cost, are 
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

1.10 Impairment of cash-generating assets

Cash-generating assets are assets used with the objective of generating a commercial return. Commercial return means that 
positive cash flows are expected to be significantly higher than the cost of the asset.

Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or service potential of an asset, over and above the systematic recognition 
of the loss of the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential through depreciation (amortisation).

Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognised in the statement of financial position after deducting any 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses thereon.

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets used with the objective of generating a commercial return 
that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups 
of assets.

Costs of disposal are incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset, excluding finance costs and income tax 
expense.

Depreciation (Amortisation) is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life.

Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction between 
knowledgeable, willing parties, less the costs of disposal.
Recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. Useful 
life is either:
- the period of time over which an asset is expected to be used by the Authority; or
- the number of production or similar units expected to be obtained from the asset by the Authority.
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1.11 Impairment of non-cash-generating assets

Cash-generating assets are assets used with the objective of generating a commercial return. Commercial return means that 
positive cash flows are expected to be significantly higher than the cost of the asset.

Non-cash-generating assets are assets other than cash-generating assets.

Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or service potential of an asset, over and above the systematic recognition 
of the loss of the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential through depreciation (amortisation).

Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognised in the statement of financial position after deducting any 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses thereon.

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets managed with the objective of generating a commercial return 
that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups 
of assets.

Costs of disposal are incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset, excluding finance costs and income tax 
expense.

Depreciation (Amortisation) is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life.

Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction between 
knowledgeable, willing parties, less the costs of disposal. 

Recoverable service amount is the higher of a non-cash-generating asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. Useful 
life is either:
- the period of time over which an asset is expected to be used by the Authority; or
- the number of production or similar units expected to be obtained from the asset by the Authority.

1.12 Employee benefits

Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by an entity in exchange for service rendered by employees.

A qualifying insurance policy is an insurance policy issued by an insurer that is not a related party (as defined in the Standard of 
GRAP on Related Party Disclosures) of the reporting entity, if the proceeds of the policy can be used only to pay or fund employee 
benefits under a defined benefit plan and are not available to the reporting entity’s own creditors (even in liquidation) and cannot 
be paid to the reporting entity, unless either:

- the proceeds represent surplus assets that are not needed for the policy to meet all the related employee benefit obligations;
or

- the proceeds are returned to the reporting entity to reimburse it for employee benefits already paid.

Termination benefits are employee benefits payable as a result of either:

- an entity’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before the normal retirement date; or
- an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits.

Other long-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than post-employment benefits and termination benefits) that 
are not due to be settled within twelve months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service.
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Vested employee benefits are employee benefits that are not conditional on future employment.

Composite social security programmes are established by legislation and operate as multi-employer plans to provide post- 
employment benefits as well as to provide benefits that are not consideration in exchange for service rendered by employees.

A constructive obligation is an obligation that derives from an entity’s actions where by an established pattern of past practice, 
published policies or a sufficiently specific current statement, the entity has indicated to other parties that it will accept certain 
responsibilities and as a result, the entity has created a valid expectation on the part of those other parties that it will discharge 
those responsibilities. 

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) that are due to be settled within twelve 
months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service.

Short-term employee benefits include items such as:
- wages, salaries and social security contributions;
- short-term compensated absences (such as paid annual leave and paid sick leave) where the compensation for the absences

is due to be settled within twelve months after the end of the reporting period in which the employees render the related
employee service;

- bonus, incentive and performance related payments payable within twelve months after the end of the reporting period in
which the employees render the related service; and

- non-monetary benefits (for example, medical care, and free or subsidised goods or services such as housing, cars and
cellphones) for current employees.

When an employee has rendered service to the entity during a reporting period, the entity recognise the undiscounted amount
of short-term employee benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service:

- as a liability (accrued expense), after deducting any amount already paid. If the amount already paid exceeds the
undiscounted amount of the benefits, the entity recognise that excess as an asset (prepaid expense) to the extent that the
prepayment will lead to, for example, a reduction in future payments or a cash refund; and

- as an expense, unless another Standard requires or permits the inclusion of the benefits in the cost of an asset.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase 
their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs. The entity measures the expected 
cost of accumulating compensated absences as the additional amount that the entity expects to pay as a result of the unused 
entitlement that has accumulated at the reporting date.

The entity recognise the expected cost of bonus, incentive and performance related payments when the entity has a present 
legal or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past events and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be 
made. A present obligation exists when the entity has no realistic alternative but to make the payments.

Post-employment benefits

Post-employment benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) which are payable after the completion of 
employment.

Post-employment benefit plans are formal or informal arrangements under which an entity provides post-employment benefits 
for one or more employees.
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Multi-employer plans are defined contribution plans (other than state plans and composite social security programmes) or 
defined benefit plans (other than state plans) that pool the assets contributed by various entities that are not under common 
control and use those assets to provide benefits to employees of more than one entity, on the basis that contribution and 
benefit levels are determined without regard to the identity of the entity that employs the employees concerned.

1.13 Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:
- the Authority has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
- it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required to settle the

obligation; and
- a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the present obligation at 
the reporting date.

Where the effect of time value of money is material, the amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditures expected 
to be required to settle the obligation.

The discount rate is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the liability. 

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the 
reimbursement is recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the Authority 
settles the obligation. The reimbursement is treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement does 
not exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Provisions are reversed if it 
is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required, to settle 
the obligation.

Where discounting is used, the carrying amount of a provision increases in each period to reflect the passage of time. This 
increase is recognised as an interest expense.

A provision is used only for expenditures for which the provision was originally recognised. 

Provisions are not recognised for future operating surplus.

If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation (net of recoveries) under the contract is recognised and 
measured as a provision.

A constructive obligation to restructure arises only when an entity:

- has a detailed formal plan for the restructuring, identifying at least:
- the activity/operating unit or part of a activity/operating unit concerned;
- the principal locations affected;
- the location, function, and approximate number of employees who will be compensated for services being terminated;
- the expenditures that will be undertaken; and
- when the plan will be implemented; and
- has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement that plan or

announcing its main features to those affected by it.
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A restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those that are both:
- necessarily entailed by the restructuring; and
- not associated with the ongoing activities of the Authority

No obligation arises as a consequence of the sale or transfer of an operation until the Authority is committed to the sale or 
transfer, that is, there is a binding arrangement.

After their initial recognition contingent liabilities recognised in entity combinations that are recognised separately are 
subsequently measured at the higher of:
- the amount that would be recognised as a provision; and
- the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 27. A financial guarantee 
contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because 
a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

Loan commitment is a firm commitment to provide credit under pre-specified terms and conditions. The Authority recognises a 
provision for financial guarantees and loan commitments when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits and service potential will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

Determining whether an outflow of resources is probable in relation to financial guarantees requires judgement. Indications 
that an outflow of resources may be probable are:
- financial difficulty of the debtor;
- defaults or delinquencies in interest and capital repayments by the debtor;
- breaches of the terms of the debt instrument that result in it being payable earlier than the agreed term and the ability of

the debtor to settle its obligation on the amended terms;

- a decline in prevailing economic circumstances (e.g. high interest rates, inflation and unemployment) that impact on the
ability of entities to repay their obligations.

Where a fee is received by the Authority for issuing a financial guarantee and/or where a fee is charged on loan commitments, it
is considered in determining the best estimate of the amount required to settle the obligation at reporting date. Where a fee is
charged and the Authority considers that an outflow of economic resources is probable, an Authority recognises the obligation
at the higher of:

- the amount determined using in the Standard of GRAP on Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets;
and
- the amount of the fee initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
Standard of GRAP on Revenue from Exchange Transactions.

1.14 Commitments

Items are classified as commitments when an entity has committed itself to future transactions that will normally result in the 
outflow of cash.

Disclosures are required in respect of unrecognised contractual commitments.
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Commitments for which disclosure is necessary to achieve a fair presentation should be disclosed in a note to the financial 
statements, if both the following criteria are met:
-Contracts should be non-cancellable or only cancellable at significant cost (for example, contracts for computer or building
maintenance services); and
-Contracts should relate to something other than the routine, steady, state business of the entity – therefore salary
commitments relating to employment contracts or social security benefit commitments are excluded.

1.15 Revenue from exchange transactions

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential during the reporting period when those inflows result in
an increase in net assets, other than increases relating to contributions from owners.

An exchange transaction is one in which the Authority receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly
gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of goods, services or use of assets) to the other party in exchange. Fair
value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an
arm’s length transaction.

Measurement

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume rebates.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied:
- the Authority has transferred to the purchaser the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
- the Authority retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor

effective control over the goods sold;
- the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
- it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Authority;
- the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Rendering of services

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated with the 
transaction is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The outcome of a 
transaction can be estimated reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied:

- the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
- it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Authority;
- the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date can be measured reliably; and
- the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably.
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When services are performed by an indeterminate number of acts over a specified time frame, revenue is recognised on a 
straight line basis over the specified time frame unless there is evidence that some other method better represents the stage 
of completion. When a specific act is much more significant than any other acts, the recognition of revenue is postponed until 
the significant act is executed.

When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised 
only to the extent of the expenses recognised that are recoverable.

Interest, royalties and dividends

Revenue arising from the use by others of entity assets yielding interest, royalties and dividends or similar distributions is 
recognised when:
- It is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Authority, and
- The amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.

Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit, using the effective interest rate method.

Service fees included in the price of the product are recognised as revenue over the period during which the service is performed.

1.16 Revenue from non-exchange transactions

Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic benefits or service potential received and receivable by an Authority, which 
represents an increase in net assets, other than increases relating to contributions from owners.

Conditions on transferred assets are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential embodied 
in the asset is required to be consumed by the recipient as specified or future economic benefits or service potential must be 
returned to the transferor.

Control of an asset arise when the Authority can use or otherwise benefit from the asset in pursuit of its objectives and can 
exclude or otherwise regulate the access of others to that benefit.

Exchange transactions are transactions in which one entity receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly 
gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of cash, goods, services, or use of assets) to another entity in exchange.

Expenses paid through the tax system are amounts that are available to beneficiaries regardless of whether or not they pay 
taxes.

Fines are economic benefits or service potential received or receivable by entities, as determined by a court or other law 
enforcement body, as a consequence of the breach of laws or regulations.

Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not exchange transactions. In a non-exchange transaction, an Authority 
either receives value from another Authority without directly giving approximately equal value in exchange, or gives value to 
another Authority without directly receiving approximately equal value in exchange. 
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Recognition
An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction recognised as an asset is recognised as revenue, except to the extent 
that a liability is also recognised in respect of the same inflow.

As the Authority satisfies a present obligation recognised as a liability in respect of an inflow of resources from a non-exchange 
transaction recognised as an asset, it reduces the carrying amount of the liability recognised and recognises an amount of 
revenue equal to that reduction.

Measurement

Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is measured at the amount of the increase in net assets recognised by the
Authority.

When, as a result of a non-exchange transaction, the Authority recognises an asset, it also recognises revenue equivalent to the 
amount of the asset measured at its fair value as at the date of acquisition, unless it is also required to recognise a liability. Where 
a liability is required to be recognised it will be measured as the best estimate of the amount required to settle the obligation at 
the reporting date, and the amount of the increase in net assets, if any, recognised as revenue. When a liability is subsequently 
reduced, because the taxable event occurs or a condition is satisfied, the amount of the reduction in the liability is recognised 
as revenue.

Taxation

The Authority is exempted from paying Income Tax in terms of section 10 (1) (cA) of the Income Tax Act (Act No 58 of 1962).

Fines

Fines are recognised as revenue when the receivable meets the definition of an asset and satisfies the criteria for recognition 
as an asset.

Assets arising from fines are measured at the best estimate of the inflow of resources to the Authority.

Where the Authority collects fines in the capacity of an agent, the fine will not be revenue of the collecting entity.

1.17 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are interest and other expenses incurred by an entity in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing 
costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

1.18 Accounting by principals and agents

Identification

An agent is an entity that has been directed by another entity (a principal), through a binding arrangement, to undertake 
transactions with third parties on behalf of the principal and for the benefit of the principal.

A principal is an entity that directs another entity (an agent), through a binding arrangement, to undertake transactions with third 
parties on its behalf and for its own benefit.

A principal-agent arrangement results from a binding arrangement in which one entity (an agent), undertakes transactions with 
third parties on behalf, and for the benefit of, another entity (the principal).
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Identifying whether an entity is a principal or an agent

When the Authority is party to a principal-agent arrangement, it assesses whether it is the principal or the agent in accounting 
for revenue, expenses, assets and/or liabilities that result from transactions with third parties undertaken in terms of the 
arrangement.

The assessment of whether an Authority is a principal or an agent requires the Authority to assess whether the transactions it 
undertakes with third parties are for the benefit of another entity or for its own benefit. 

Binding arrangement

The Authority assesses whether it is an agent or a principal by assessing the rights and obligations of the various parties 
established in the binding arrangement.

Where the terms of a binding arrangement are modified, the parties to the arrangement re-assess whether they act as a principal 
or an agent.

Assessing which entity benefits from the transactions with third parties

When the Authority in a principal-agent arrangement concludes that it undertakes transactions with third parties for the benefit 
of another entity, then it is the agent. If the Authority concludes that it is not the agent, then it is the principal in the transactions.

The Authority is an agent when, in relation to transactions with third parties, all three of the following criteria are present:
- It does not have the power to determine the significant terms and conditions of the transaction.
- It does not have the ability to use all, or substantially all, of the resources that result from the transaction for its own benefit.
- It is not exposed to variability in the results of the transaction.

Where the Authority has been granted specific powers in terms of legislation to direct the terms and conditions of particular 
transactions, it is not required to consider the criteria of whether it does not have the power to determine the significant terms 
and conditions of the transaction, to conclude that is an agent. The Authority applies judgement in determining whether such 
powers exist and whether they are relevant in assessing whether the Authority is an agent.

Recognition

The Authority, as a principal, recognises revenue and expenses that arise from transactions with third parties in a principal- agent 
arrangement in accordance with the requirements of the relevant Standards of GRAP.

The Authority, as an agent, recognises only that portion of the revenue and expenses it receives or incurs in executing the 
transactions on behalf of the principal in accordance with the requirements of the relevant Standards of GRAP.

The  Authority  recognises  assets  and  liabilities  arising  from  principal-agent  arrangements  in accordance  with  the 
requirements of the relevant Standards of GRAP.
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1.19 Comparative figures

Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.

1.20 Unauthorised expenditure

Unauthorised expenditure means:
- overspending of a vote or a main division within a vote; and
- expenditure not in accordance with the purpose of a vote or, in the case of a main division, not in accordance with the

purpose of the main division.

All expenditure relating to unauthorised expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial performance the
year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of the expense, and where
recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the statement of financial performance.

1.21 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care been
exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial
performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of the
expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the statement of financial performance.

1.22 Irregular expenditure

Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA is expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, incurred in
contravention of or that is not in accordance with a requirement of any applicable legislation, including -
(a) this Act; or
(b) the State Tender Board Act, 1968 (Act No. 86 of 1968), or any regulations made in terms of the Act; or
(c) any provincial legislation providing for procurement procedures in that provincial government.

National Treasury practice note no. 4 of 2008/2009 which was issued in terms of sections 76(1) to 76(4) of the PFMA requires the 
following (effective from 1 April 2008):

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial and which was condoned before year end 
and/or before finalisation of the financial statements must also be recorded appropriately in the irregular expenditure register. 
In such an instance, no further action is also required with the exception of updating the note to the financial statements.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and for which condonement is being 
awaited at year end must be recorded in the irregular expenditure register. No further action is required with the exception of 
updating the note to the financial statements.

Where irregular expenditure was incurred in the previous financial year and is only condoned in the following financial year, the 
register and the disclosure note to the financial statements must be updated with the amount condoned.
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Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and which was not condoned by the 
National Treasury or the relevant authority must be recorded appropriately in the irregular expenditure register. If liability for the 
irregular expenditure can be attributed to a person, a debt account must be created if such a person is liable in law. Immediate 
steps must thereafter be taken to recover the amount from the person concerned. If recovery is not possible, the accounting 
officer or accounting authority may write off the amount as debt impairment and disclose such in the relevant note to the 
financial statements. 

The irregular expenditure register must also be updated accordingly. If the irregular expenditure has not been condoned and 
no person is liable in law, the expenditure related thereto must remain against the relevant programme/expenditure item, be 
disclosed as such in the note to the financial statements and updated accordingly in the irregular expenditure register.

1.23 Budget information

Constitutional Institutions are typically subject to budgetary limits in the form of appropriations or budget authorisations (or 
equivalent), which is given effect through authorising legislation, appropriation or similar.

General purpose financial reporting by Authority shall provide information on whether resources were obtained and used in 
accordance with the legally adopted budget.

The approved budget is prepared on a cash basis and presented by economic classification linked to performance outcome 
objectives.

The approved budget covers the fiscal period from 01 Apr 2018 to 31 Mar 2019.

The budget for the economic entity includes all the entities approved budgets under its control.

The annual financial statements and the budget are on the same basis of accounting therefore a comparison with the budgeted 
amounts for the reporting period have been included in the Statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts.

1.24 Related parties

A related party is a person or an entity with the ability to control or jointly control the other party, or exercise significant influence 
over the other party, or vice versa, or an entity that is subject to common control, or joint control.

Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Joint control is the agreed sharing of control over an activity by a binding arrangement, and exists only when the strategic financial 
and operating decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control (the venturers).

Related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between the reporting entity and a related party, 
regardless of whether a price is charged. 
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Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity, but is not control over 
those policies.

Management are those persons responsible for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Authority, including those 
charged with the governance of the Authority in accordance with legislation, in instances where they are required to perform 
such functions.

Close members of the family of a person are considered to be those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 
influenced by, that management in their dealings with the Authority.

The Authority is exempt from disclosure requirements in relation to related party transactions if that transaction occurs within 
normal supplier and/or client/recipient relationships on terms and conditions no more or less favourable than those which it is 
reasonable to expect the Authority to have adopted if dealing with that individual entity or person in the same circumstances and 
terms and conditions are within the normal operating parameters established by that reporting entity›s legal mandate.

Where the Authority is exempt from the disclosures in accordance with the above, the Authority discloses narrative information 
about the nature of the transactions and the related outstanding balances, to enable users of the entity’s financial statements 
to understand the effect of related party transactions on its annual financial statements.

1.25 Events after reporting date

Events after reporting date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the reporting date and the 
date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. Two types of events can be identified:
- those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the reporting date (adjusting events after the reporting date);
- those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting date (non-adjusting events after the reporting date).

The Authority will adjust the amount recognised in the financial statements to reflect adjusting events after the reporting date 
once the event occurred.

The Authority will disclose the nature of the event and an estimate of its financial effect or a statement that such estimate cannot 
be made in respect of all material non-adjusting events, where non-disclosure could influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of the financial statements.

1.26 Administered revenue on behalf of the National Revenue Fund

In terms of section 15 (3) of the Independent Communications Authority of South Africa Act (Act No 13 of 2000), the Authority 
is required to pay all fees received and held on its behalf to the National Revenue Fund within 30 days after receipt of such 
revenue, through the Department of Communications.

Separate bank accounts are held for the purpose of collecting these revenues and paying them across to the NRF. The Authority 
has an obligation in terms of statute to administer these funds on behalf of National Treasury and to pay them across within a 
prescribed time limit. 
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Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2019:
Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2. New standards and interpretations

2.1   Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the Authority has not adopted any new standards and interpretations that are effective for the current 
financial year and that are relevant to its operations.

2.2   Standards and Interpretations early adopted

The Authority has chosen to early adopt the following standards and interpretations:

2.3   Standards and interpretations issued, but not yet effective

The Authority has not applied the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are mandatory for 
the Authority’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 April 2019 or later periods:
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The above mentioned receivables are mainly related to bursaries, travel and cellular phones. In the event a staff member stops 

studying, leaves the employment of the Authority or changes the course for which the staff member was initially sponsored, the 

bursary is recouped. The employee is expected to serve a term equivalent to the period sponsored. If not, the total amount due 

will be deducted from the employee›s final payment.

Travel and cellphone receivables refer to amounts that the employee owes the Authority after a business trip or for excess/

personal usage of the cellphone provided to the employee by the Authority. Normally, no impairment is provided for on these 

amounts as these amounts are recovered from employees on a regulated basis. The employees sign contracts for bursaries, 

standing advances and cellphones, which give the Authority the right to deduct outstanding amounts. For training related  

international  travel,  employees  sign  letters  that  give  the  Authority  the  right  to  deduct  such  amounts  should employees 

decide to leave before the stipulated period of time. 

Credit quality of trade and other receivables

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivable mentioned above. 
The Authority does not hold any collateral as security.
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The trade and other receivables balances are mainly granted to staff members and these are normally deducted from the 
employees. Dealings outside the Authority are normally with reputable institutions with good credit ratings. 
The ratings are as follows:

Medium risk: receivables with no defaults in the past and not provisionally-impaired. 

High risk: receivables (more than 90 days) provisionally impaired.

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired

Trade and other receivables which are less than 3 months past due are not considered to be impaired. At 31 March 2019,
R 143 722 (2018: R 624 308) were past due but not impaired.
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Accruals for licence fees relate to the accrual for all licences that were due at the end of the reporting period but were only 
due for settlement after the end of the reporting period. These are based on either the actual results of the licensee, where 
the licensee has finalised its financial statements, in instances where actual results are not available at the end of the reporting 
period, and the licensee submits the expected financial results.

ECS and ECNS receivables relate to all the amounts that had been billed to but not settled by the Electronic Communications 
Services and the Electronic Communications Network Services licensees. The broadcasting receivables relates to all the 
outstanding licence fees for broadcasting licences.

The Authority acts as an agent for the National Revenue Fund. The transfer of licence fees received is paid over to the
Department of Communications, hence receivables on behalf of the National Revenue Fund.

Receivables from non-exchange transactions past due but not impaired

Other receivables from non-exchange transactions which are less than 3 months past due are not considered to be impaired. 
At 31 March 2019, R 861 232 873 (2018: R 850 446 343) were past due but not impaired.

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of receivables from non-exchange transactions
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The licences are granted to various customers with very different credit profiles. These include successful multinational 
corporations, big security companies, medium-sized entities and very small entities. The credit profiles of these entities vary 
significantly and, in terms of the legislation, the Authority cannot refuse to grant any entity licences due to its credit rating. 

Despite the fact that no credit vetting takes place, all licences are granted after they have lodged their applications with the 
Authority. In instances where the licensee fails to comply with its licence conditions, which include payment terms, the licensee    
is    referred    to    the    Complaints    and    Compliance    Committee    or    has    its    equipment    sealed. Amounts written-off 
during the year were previously included in the impairment provision. Council approved the write off.
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The average lease term was 3 years and the average effective borrowing rate was 10% (2018: 10%).The Authority entered into 
a 36 - month finance lease agreement with Bytes Documents Solutions Pty Ltd for office automation for 16 WC7835, 8 WC5325 
and 1 WC6655 Xerox multi - function printers from 3 May 2016. The monthly instalments are fixed and do not contain any 
escalation clauses. Interest is charged at an effective rate of 10.25%. The lease expired on 2 May 2019.
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Of the unspent conditional grant balance in the prior year of R7 810 214 , it mainly relates to ICASA›s infrastructure needs. The 
Automated Spectrum Management System contract outstanding amount of R6 956 363 is being finalised by 31 September 2019. 
R853 851  (2018: R1 805 733  was recognised as revenue in the current year, which equalled the expenditure on these. The 
balance of R6 956 363 (2018: R7 810 214 ) is shown as unspent conditional grant. We have applied for permission to retain 100% 
of the funds from National Treasury for funds committed and contractual obligations finalised by 31 March 2019.
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The Provision for dismantling and restoration costs relates to the head office lease agreement signed and effective from 1 
November 2018 which places an obligation on the Authority to restore the building on termination of the lease agreement on 
30 September 2028.

This Bonus provision relates to the provision for performance bonuses and the figure is based on the key performance criteria 
that have to be met in order for the cash payout to be made. The cash payout is subject to approval by the Council. The timing 
of the approval of the performance bonus incentives is always subject to approval by the Council. This then creates uncertainty 
regarding the amount of the liability to be recognised in the financial statements.
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Travel and subsistence expenditure includes International travel which reduced in the current financial year due to constrained 
financial budget. The Authority is a member of international membership affiliations and stakeholder engagements including 
international forums. The Authority is a member of the Communications Regulators› Association of Southern Africa (CRASA). 
General and administrative expenses include employee wellness programmes and stakeholder engagements. Other expenses 
include international membership organisations and association workshops.

Expenditure incurred on Consultants relates to Consumer education campaigns; Development of top-down and bottom up cost 
models to determine suitable mobile and fixed line termination rates for South Africa; to test and benchmark the performance 
and Quality of Service (QoS) for voice and data services for a period of six (06) months in four (04) provinces of Eastern Cape, 
Kwa-Zulu Natal, Mpumalanga, and Western Cape.
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Operating  lease  payments represent rentals payable by the Authority for certain of its office properties. Leases are negotiated 
for an average term of five years and rentals are fixed for an average of five years. No contingent rent is payable. 
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28. Related parties

ICASA is a Schedule 1 entity in terms of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA). The related party disclosure is required in 
terms of GRAP 20, related party disclosures, issued by National Treasury.

National  Departments

Department of Communications

The  Authority  receives  its  budget  allocation  from  the  Department of Communications, which is based on the approved 
allocation from Parliament and therefore this is at arm’s length. The Authority collects the licence fees from communication 
licensees, and application fees, on behalf of the National Revenue Fund and transfers this to the Department of Communications, 
which is done at arm’s length.

The following departments are licensed under the Electronic Communications Act. All the transactions and the 
issued licences are at arm’s length:

Department of Environmental Affairs;
Department of Defence and Military Veterans;
Department of Water Affairs; and 
South African Police Service

Entities

The following government entities are licensed under the Electronic Communications Act and Postal Service Act. 
All the transactions and the issued licences are at arm’s length

Broadband Infraco; 
Sentech;
State Information Technology Agent;
South African Broadcasting Corporation; 
South African Post Office; and
Transnet.

The Authority acquires services at arm’s length from the following entities: Government Communication and 
Information Systems;

Government Printing Works; 
South African Post Office;
South African Broadcasting Corporation; 
State Information Technology Agency; 
Transnet; and
Telkom SA Limited. 
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*1 National Assembly resolved in terms of section 8 (2) of the ICASA Act, 2000, to remove Councillor MR Mohlaloga as a Councillor
and Chairperson of ICASA with effect from 19 March 2019
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* 1 Mr. W Ngwepe appointed as CEO from 17 October 2017.
* 2 Dr. P Ruplal was appointed Acting General Manager: Engineering and Technology for the period from 1 March 2018 to date.
* 3 Mr. A Sookharan term ends 30 November 2019
* 4 Mrs. P Mngomezulu received her 2016-2017 Performance bonus after a re-moderation exercise in October 2018
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29. Change in estimate

Property, plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation charges for property, plant and equipment. The 
estimates are based on the assessed conditions of the assets, changes in technology, such as new technical innovations being 
introduced in the industry thus rendering our assets obsolete, as well as expected future spending on capital assets. These  
estimates  can  change  significantly  as  a  result  of  changes  in  the  conditions  of  assets,  introduction  of  new technologies 
and availability of finance resources to fund expected future spending on capital assets.

The residual values and useful lives were reviewed during the course of the financial year in line with paragraph 61 of
GRAP 17, and the effect thereof was as follows:
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31. Risk management

Liquidity risk

The Authority’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The Authority manages liquidity 
risk through an ongoing review of future commitments and funding through quarterly tranches received from the Department 
of Communications.

The table below analyses the Authority’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at 
the statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not 
significant.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Authority will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Authority finances 
its operations through grants received from the Department of Communications and interest earned on positive bank balances. 
These are the only sources of finance for the Authority due to the fact that the Public Finance Management Act prohibits the 
Authority from raising loans and other forms of short and long-term borrowings.

The entity maintains a reasonable balance between the period over which assets generate funds and the period over which the 
respective assets are funded.

The table above analyses the Authority’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period 
at the statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not 
significant. 
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Credit Risk

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents, NRF receivables and Receivables from exchange transactions. The 
Authority only deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party.

Receivables  from  exchange  transactions  mainly  originate  from  transactions  that  the  Authority  enters  into  with  the 
employees. The main components of these receivables are bursary receivables, standing advance receivables, cellphone 
receivables and Travel related receivables (other). The standing advance receivables are only payable when the employee leaves 
the employment of the Authority, whether through resignation, disability, death or in search of greener pastures. 

The bursary receivables originate when a qualifying employee of the Authority is granted a bursary to pursue studies in a 
particular field of study that would be useful to the Authority on completion of his/her studies. Cellphone receivables and travel 
related receivables relate to day-to-day activities and these are recovered on a monthly basis from the employees concerned. 
No significant losses have ever been suffered from staff receivables. The staff receivables are owed by many employees; they are 
diverse and they do not pose any major concentration of credit risk.

Credit risk is the risk that the Administered Revenue may suffer a financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. This arises mainly from Administered Revenue’s trade receivables. The 
licensees of Administered Revenue have to apply in terms of the relevant legislations in order to be authorised to conduct any 
activities.

Financial assets, which potentially subject the Administered Revenue to concentrations of credit risk, consist principally of cash 
and cash equivalents and trade receivables.

The cash and cash equivalents are placed with high credit quality financial institutions. Trade and other receivables are presented 
net of the allowance for doubtful receivables.

ICASA Administered Revenue collects the majority of its revenue from the major mobile and fixed line telecommunications 
companies that have excellent reputations with regard to compliance with regulatory obligations for the payment of both the 
annual licence and spectrum fees.
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ICASA Administered Revenue collects the majority of its revenue from the major mobile and fixed line telecommunications 
companies that have excellent reputations with regard to compliance with regulatory obligations for the payment of both the 
annual licence and spectrum fees.

However, the Authority does face a risk in the collection of spectrum fees owed, in part due to the diverse nature of entities able 
to apply and utilise available spectrum. Such licensees include government departments, major telecommunications companies, 
broadcasting licensees, security companies, individuals, etc.

There is no significant exposure from major corporations and government departments. However, there is risk associated with 
the collection of revenue owed by those spectrum licensees who are not required to hold an ECNS licence, as these licensees 
tend to be small companies with geographically diverse locations. The resources available at the Authority represent a significant 
risk in its ability to collect all outstanding revenues from such licensees.

The broadcasting services and postal services licensees do not pose any significant risk regarding the collection of annual or 
spectrum licence fees.

Market risk

Interest rate risk
As the Authority has no significant interest-bearing assets, the Authority’s income and operating cash flows are substantially 
independent of changes in market interest rates.

Foreign exchange risk

The Authority operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily 
with respect to the US dollar and the UK pound. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised 
assets and liabilities.

The Authority does not hedge foreign exchange fluctuations.

32. Going concern

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis 
presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, 
contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business. 
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Details of irregular expenditure awaiting condonation

The irregular expenditure of R 21 304 403  identified during the current year was investigated in terms of Section 38 and 51 of 
the PFMA and disciplinary steps against relevant officials were taken where it was proven the relevant officials committed the 
irregular expenditure as disclosed. 

The irregular expenditure of R66 255 502  identified in previous years was also investigated during the current year in terms of 
Section 38 and 51 of the PFMA and a detailed report was prepared and submitted to National Treasury for condonation.

The irregular expenditure of R 2 021 700 relating to previous years was identified by the Public Protector and was included in 
the current year disclosure. 

35. Budget differences

Material differences between budget and actual amounts 

Revenue from non-exchange transactions - Other

The deferred unspent grants which was part of the previous years’ unspent conditional grant R 7 810 214, R 853 851 was 
realized in 2018/19. The only project in progress relates to the Automated Spectrum Management System.

Revenue from exchange transactions

The budget was reduced by R17 million for the 2018/2019 allocation and hence less amounts to invest during the financial 
period deferred, including funds surrendered to National Treasury, hence the significant reduction by over R8,8 million.

Personnel
During 2018/19 the Authority froze most of the vacant positions due to budgetary constraints including the position of the Chief 
Operating Officer.
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Depreciation
Due to funding constraints not all assets which were envisaged to be procured were bought.

Repairs and maintenance
Due to the demolition of the previous Authority’s Head office in Sandton, there was a significant increase in the expenditure 
which was not initially budgeted for.

General Expenses
Savings in travel management costs as there were significant cost containment measures implemented. There were also 14 out 
of 17 Consumer activation programmes in the various provinces executed which resulted in savings in the general expenditure.

Current year expenditure is inclusive of prior year rolled over projects which were funded from rolled over funds approved by 
National Treasury.

36. Events after the reporting date

The Authority does not have any events after the reporting date.
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Cape Town
Knowledge Park III, Ground Floor, 
Heron Crescent, 
Cape Town
Tel: (021) 561 6800

Regional Offices

Bloemfontein
Cnr Koller & Heron Crescent,
Hilton
Bloemfontein
Tel: (051) 411 5900

Port Elizabeth
1st Floor, Fairview House
Fairview Office Park
66 Ring Road
Greenacres, Port Elizabeth
Tel: (041) 394 1600

Nelspruit
5th floor, Medcen Building
14 Henshall Street 
Nelspruit 
Tel: (013) 001 1364

Durban
13th floor, Delta Towers
303 Dr. Pixley KaSeme
Durban
Tel: (013) 334 9500

Polokwane
Ismini Office Park
14 Limassol Street
Polokwane
Tel: (015) 001 0041

Kimberley
51 Long Street, 
Kimberley
Tel: (012) 568 3042

Mahikeng
761 Doctor James 
Moroka Drive
SABC Broadcast Centre 
Unit 1
Mmabatho
2790
Tel: (012) 568 3251
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Head Office 
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Eco Park
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